# THE CAUSE-EFFECT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN STUDENT ENGAGEMENT AND NUMERICAL SCORES IN RESIDENTIAL HIGHER EDUCATION FACS COURSES

by

Chelsea Jade Milks

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2023

# THE CAUSE-EFFECT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN STUDENT ENGAGEMENT AND NUMERICAL SCORES IN RESIDENTIAL HIGHER EDUCATION FACS COURSES

by Chelsea Jade Milks

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

2023

APPROVED BY:

Kevin Struble, Ed.D., Committee Chair

Michelle Barthlow, Ed.D., Committee Member

#### ABSTRACT

The presence of student engagement is believed to increase student achievement. Student achievement can be measured by school attainment, student attitudes, retention rates, course depletion, and numerical grades. Studies have examined the effect of student engagement on student achievement in online and blended modalities, but minimally in face-to-face learning. Researchers have inspected the relationship between student engagement, achievement, and program retention in residential Family and Consumer Sciences (FACS) programs, with the belief that greater engagement in these programs can improve retention and achievement scores. The purpose of this quantitative causal-comparative study was to examine the relationship between student engagement and numerical grade scores between residential Family and Consumer Sciences courses. A total of 172 participants were selected using a convenience sampling method. Two groups of FACS students, interior design and family and child development, were surveyed using the Perceptions of Student Engagement instrument. A oneway multivariate analysis of variance was performed to compare engagement scores with numerical grade scores between the two groups. The result of the MANOVA between the groups on the combined dependent variables were statistically significant and the null hypothesis was rejected at a 95% confidence level where F(2, 164) = 11.68, p < .01, partial  $\eta^2 = .125$ . The effect size as measured by partial eta squared was extremely large. Suggestions for future research include repeating the study at other higher education FACS programs, between broader groups of residential classes, and examining the impact of instructional pedagogy methods on student engagement and achievement in residential learning.

Keywords: student engagement, Family and Consumer Sciences, student achievement

# **Copyright Page**

© Chelsea J. Milks, 2023

# Dedication

My hope is that this manuscript will be used for the glory of God. "In the same way, let your light shine before others, so that they may see your good works and give glory to your Father who is in heaven" (*English Standard Version*, 2001, Matthew 5:16).

To my family, my husband, Brandon, and our three children, Hartley, Kielyn, and Judsen, I dedicate this to you.

#### Acknowledgments

To my husband, Brandon, you have supported me in all my endeavors. You allowed me to watch our babies grow at home while I worked part-time. You never said "no" to any pursuit. From working different roles, sewing from our home, being an instructional designer, to teaching higher education courses at several institutions, you understood every opportunity was a piece of a larger puzzle that God was orchestrating. You cheered me on during every season. It was of no surprise to you when I felt a "nudge" that it was time to earn my doctorate. I cannot thank you enough for being a great dad, and spouse, and for being the sense of humor I always need. I am so grateful God brought us together at college years ago. He has blessed us beyond measure. Thank you for all you do for our family. I wouldn't be here without you.

## To my parents -

Mom, it feels like yesterday we were applying for scholarships and brainstorming how to afford college. You helped me apply for scholarships to ensure I would graduate with little debt. You always selflessly give your time. If I could, I would give you an honorary degree. You deserve that and more. Dad, like you always said, I got my brains from you. Thank you both for your love, support, and encouragement. I hope I make you proud.

Hartley, Kielyn, and Judsen, my three "little" best friends and forever "babies." The days are long, but the years are short. You watched mom type for hours on the weekends instead of spending time with you. Now that this is behind us, we can make up for the time lost. You three are my greatest achievements and blessings in life. No degree or job will every match that. Remember, it is not about the degrees you earn, but what you do to glorify God. Always remember to honor Him and His leading. It does not matter what you become or the career you follow; your relationship with Him matters above all else. I will always be proud of you!

To my committee -

Dr. Kevin Struble, chair, and friend. You and Brittany are authentic friends. We have celebrated together and have been present during hard times. It is a pleasure to finish this milestone with you. I never imagined nearly 12 years ago at our weddings that you would chair my dissertation. Thank you for your patience and help. Here's to a lifetime of family friendship!

Dr. Michelle Barthlow, my methodologist and instructor, thank you for your patience as I wrestled through my dissertation ideas during our last doctoral courses together. I enjoyed our meetings and treasured your prayers. You played an integral role in the development of my manuscript.

Dr. Jim Haug, the fact you are from my hometown and are a professor at a local university is not a coincidence. I believe God arranged for me to use your instrument. I look forward to partnering in the future. Thank you for allowing me to be the first person to use your survey for research.

Dr. Timothy Nelson, thank you for meeting for several hours to help with statistics and push me to the finish line!

My FACS team, thank you for your encouragement, cooperation, prayers, and kind words to finish this degree! Kevin, Janet, Lauren, and Brigitte, a special thanks to you for allowing me to survey your classes and assisting with data collection.

My FACS students, it is an honor to be your professor and to be a small part of your educational journey. You know I strive to create engaging courses. I want nothing but success for you.

Elizabeth, thank you for being a listening ear and friend during this process. Few know the journey as a mother of young kids and a full-time employee attempting to write a dissertation.

Finally, all glory goes to God. The doctoral process is arduous, and I would not have finished without knowing God's calling to do so. I praise Him that it is over!

ABSTRACT
Copyright Page4
Dedication5
Acknowledgments
List of Tables12
List of Figures13
List of Abbreviations14
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION15
Overview15
Background15
Historical Overview17
Society-at-Large
Society-at-Large20Theoretical Background21Problem Statement21Purpose Statement23Research Question25Definitions25CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW27
Society-at-Large20Theoretical Background21Problem Statement21Purpose Statement23Research Question25Definitions25CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW27Overview27
Society-at-Large20Theoretical Background21Problem Statement21Purpose Statement23Research Question25Definitions25CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW27Overview27Theoretical Framework27
Society-at-Large

# **Table of Contents**

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	58
Overview	58
Design	58
Research Question	60
Hypothesis	60
Participants and Setting	60
Population	60
Participants	61
Instrumentation	63
Student Perceptions About Class Engagement Measure	64
Procedures	66
Data Analysis	67
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	69
Overview	69
Research Question	69
Hypothesis	69
Descriptive Statistics	69
Results	70
Data Screening	70
Assumption of Linearity	71
Assumption of Multivariate Normality	74
Assumption of Homogeneity of Variance Covariance Matrices	76
Assumption of Homogeneity of Variance	76

Cronbach Alpha Coefficient	77
Results for Null Hypothesis	78
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS	81
Overview	81
Implications	84
Limitations	86
Recommendations for Future Research	
REFERENCES	91
APPENDIX A: Initial Permission Requests	120
APPENDIX B: Approval Letters	122
APPENDIX C: IRB Approval	124
APPENDIX D: Consent	126
APPENDIX E: Verbal Recruitment Letter	129
APPENDIX F: Instrument	130

# List of Tables

Table 1: Dependent Variables: Engagements Scores & Numerical Grade Scores	70
Table 2: Pearson Correlation	72
Table 3: Tests of Normality	74
Table 4: Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices	76
Table 5: Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variances	77
Table 6: Cronbach Alpha Coefficient	77
Table 7: Multivariate Tests	79
Table 8: Tests of Between-Subjects Effects	80

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Scatterplot Matrix Participated Group	72
Figure 2: Box Plots: Family and Child Development Group	73
Figure 3: Box Plots: Interior Design Group	73
Figure 4: Histograms: Interior Design Group	76
Figure 5: Histograms: Family and Child Development Group	76

# List of Abbreviations

Family and Consumer Sciences (FACS)

Student Engagement (SE)

Failure to Not-Complete (NF)

Withdraw (W)

Incomplete (I)

#### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this study was to explore the causal-comparative relationship between student engagement and numerical grades between residential Family and Consumer Sciences courses. Chapter One will postulate a background regarding Family and Consumer Sciences, student engagement, and academic achievement. It will confer relevant literature about the topic of engagement and achievement in higher education residential courses, and discuss the social, historical, and theoretical context surrounding the issue. The purpose statement, problem statement, and significance of the study will be defined. Moreover, the research questions will be determined, along with key terms apposite to the study.

#### Background

Student engagement (SE) is a component of higher education that increases and sustains retention rates, academic achievement, and student satisfaction; therefore, SE has been a focus of research for more than three decades (Aparicio et al., 2021; Bowden et al., 2021; Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022; Snijders et al., 2022; Sujet, 2022; Tanaka, 2019). Broadly defined, student engagement is student involvement in education (Ben-Eliyahu et al., 2018; Bowden et al., 2021; Haug et al., 2019; Maguire et al., 2017). It is the continuous participation of students and their coursework, motivated by their interests and internal drive (Tani et al., 2021). Engagement is the process of active learning in a community of learners (Axelson & Flick, 2010; Bowden et al., 2021; Haug et al., 2019). Engagement can be referred to as the "energy" of a student. "Energy" is the steadfast contribution to achieving educational goals (Astin, 1999; Havik & Westergard, 2020). Developers of the instrument, Perceptions of Student Engagement, claim student engagement constitutes students' feelings, ideas, and emotional dispositions that associate with student achievement in higher education (Haug et al., 2019).

Narrowing this definition, researchers have classified engagement into three categories: behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement. Behavioral engagement is the tenacity to maintain active course participation (Fredricks et al., 2004; Havik & Westergard, 2020; Lee, 2014). Often, behavioral engagement determines the achievement of course outcomes. Behavioral engagement is widely researched compared to cognitive and social engagement due to its relationship with student motivation and course completion (Bowden et al., 2021; Cappella et al., 2013). Behavioral engagement is the drive and motivation to achieve educational goals, whereas cognitive engagement is student's feelings and emotions toward education (Aparicio et al., 2021; Bowden et al., 2021; Groccia, 2018; Havik & Westergard, 2020; Lee, 2014). Studies reveal that cognitive engagement and behavioral engagement are not required to coexist. A student can demonstrate behavioral engagement without feeling emotionally positive toward a course (Havik & Westergard, 2020; Lee, 2014; Pace, 1998). Social engagement is student connectedness. It is the sense of belonging. Social engagement heavily weighs on the success of a student in a class and enhances the student experience (Bowden et al., 2021; Farrell & Brunton, 2020). The combination of behavioral, social, and cognitive engagement contributes to course achievement (Archambault et al., 2009; Ben-Eliyahu et al., 2018; Lei et al., 2018).

The delineation of academic achievement varies. Achievement can be assessed by final numerical grades, school attainment, student attitudes, retention rates, and course completion (Kahu & Nelson, 2018). Lindholm-Leary and Borsato (2002) define academic achievement as mastering skills to flourish academically and in society. Achievement is the grasping of metacognitive skills using assessment tools that help measure the accomplishment of learning

outcomes, in the form of final grades (Winnie & Nesbit, 2010). Academic achievement correlates with cognitive, social, and behavioral engagement in higher education learning (Lee, 2014).

There has been a steady depletion of FACS educator programs over the last 20 years and an 11% decrease in FACS enrollment and graduation rates (Bowers & Myers, 2019; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021). Consequently, researchers have scrutinized the relationship between student engagement, student achievement, and program sustainability within FACS programs (Bowers & Myers, 2019; Dainty et al., 2011; Davis & Alexander, 2009; Mosenson & Fox, 2011; Rolling & Johnson, 2002). FACS covers a comprehensive field of specializations including family and child development, career exploration, interior design, fashion design and merchandising, food and nutrition, and event management (AAFCS, n.d.; Firebaugh et al., 2010). Two programs commonly offered at higher institutions are family and child development and interior design, with interior design utilizing project-based learning and family and child development employing lecture-based and experiential learning (AAFCS, n.d.; Mosenson & Fox, 2011; Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021).

# **Historical Overview**

Ellen Swallow Richards, "mother of human ecology", progressive reformer, and founder of Family and Consumer Sciences proposed the disciplinary subject, oekology, in the late 1800s (McGregor, 2020; Richardson, 2002; White & White, 2018). Oekology stems from the Greek root word "oik" meaning "house." Oekology promoted the notion of the right way of living at home and in the environment. Richards changed the name to ecology in later years (McGregor, 2020; Richardson, 2002). As a practiced scientist, Richards devoted her professional work to the home economics movement (Deaton et al., 2018; McGregor, 2020; White & White, 2018). She conjectured work first began in the home, then the community. Thus, home economics was created to improve the home and the advancement of society (McGregor, 2020; White & White, 2018). By the 1920s, home economics was approved as a staple of secondary and post-secondary education (AAFCS, n.d.). With the development of technology, and workforce trends, Family and Consumer Sciences has been declining in course offerings and programs (Pulay & Tripp, 2022; Werhan, 2013; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021). As a result, educators are making strides to improve student engagement, achievement, and retention rates in FACS education (Dainty et al., 2011; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021).

Around the time that home economics expanded in knowledge, researchers began studying the connection between student engagement and academic achievement. Ralph Tyler was a proponent of task-centered learning from the 1930s to the 1960s. He supposed education should consist of meaningful learning experiences that entailed a sense of community (Tyler, 1951). His push for robust curriculum development enhanced the learner experience and emphasized the role of student engagement in academic achievement (Buttah et al., 2019; Jia et al., 2021; Tyler, 1951, 2013). Tyler (2013) developed four curricula questions to change the view of student engagement. These questions are:

- 1. What educational purposes should the school seek to attain?
- 2. What educational learning experiences can be provided that are likely to attain these purposes?
- 3. How can these educational experiences be effectively organized?
- 4. How can we determine whether these purposes are being attained? (pp. 1-2)

His views led to penning several ideas influencing student engagement, such as the implementation of instructional pedagogy, targeted individualized learning, and the theory of

subject matter expert knowledge; each claiming to bode the greatest significance on academic achievement (Buttah et al., 2019; Tyler, 2013).

Astin (1999) acknowledged the value of both pedagogy and subject matter expertise in student engagement and academic achievement. Nevertheless, in his studies, Astin (1999) suggested there was a missing component. He believed student involvement was the link between engagement and achievement. Until this point, many of the ideologies of student engagement placed importance on course content, pedagogy, and the instructor, and not the student's behavior (Kahu & Nelson, 2018). The theory of involvement conceptualized behavioral engagement and altered the view of student engagement in higher education (Astin, 1999).

Residential learning has progressed in higher education. Lecturing and assessments were acceptable means of instruction in the past, but today, instructors are expected to integrate the latest technological trends and instructional methods (Dunn & Kennedy, 2019; Rufaidah et al., 2021). The act of implementing technologies in education can be denoted as Technology Enhanced Learning (TEL) (Rufaidah et al., 2021). Studies reveal that Technology Enhanced Learning in face-to-face instruction increases student engagement, and likewise, student achievement and attainment (Dunn & Kennedy, 2019; Maryam & Mohamadi, 2021; Northey et al., 2018; Sahni, 2019). TEL mirrors blended learning, which is the art of merging face-to-face education with computer-based learning (Hrastinski, 2019). TEL promotes the use of social media, discussion forum tools, videos, and interactive resources in face-to-face and online courses to improve student engagement (Dunn & Kennedy, 2019). Technology affects student engagement and has changed residential learning over the last decade (Dunn & Kennedy, 2019; Hrastinski, 2019).

Student engagement and higher education pivoted in 2020. COVID-19 forced in-person instruction to transfer to online learning (Guppy et al., 2022; Pokhrel & Chhetri, 2021). Post-COVID 19 and the return of face-to-face learning in higher education, learning has become more individualized and interactive to produce student engagement (Guppy et al., 2022; Lavercombe, 2022). COVID-19 created a sense of autonomy in higher education (Guppy et al., 2022; Lavercombe, 2022). The impact of digital learning, along with stressing student interests and passions in learning has further transformed cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement (Zhao & Watterston, 2021).

The student from the past is not the student of today (Roehl et al., 2013; Talmon, 2019). Generation Z students compose the largest percentage of higher education learners. Gen Zs are digital natives. Over 75% of Gen Zs own technological devices and were raised on technology (Talmon, 2019). Over 90% claim to watch YouTube daily and interact with social media accounts. Many create their digital content (Talmon, 2019). The change in learners throughout history has considerably influenced student engagement strategies and academic achievement outcomes (Mahesh et al., 2021). Gen Z learners desire greater interaction, assimilation of technologies, and interactive pedagogical strategies (Talmon, 2019).

### Society-at-Large

Exploring the relationship between cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement and academic achievement between disciplines in residential learning postulates significance to society at large. Behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement are means to boost student motivation and increase student satisfaction (Martin & Bolliger, 2018). Enhancing student satisfaction and the student experience improves grades in residential learning (Dunn & Kennedy, 2019). One study shows that students who earn higher grades may have greater life

success (Giani et al., 2020). Students who achieve satisfactory grades and graduate from college contribute to the community economically and socially. Students who graduate are more likely to marry, gain and maintain employment, purchase housing, exercise political rights, and overall, thrive in happier and healthful lifestyles (Giani et al., 2020).

#### **Theoretical Background**

Leading theorists contributed to the issue of cognitive, social, and behavioral engagement in higher education. Bandura (1974), the creator of the social cognitive theory, believed that the social environment and self-efficacy are fundamental components of education. The social cognitive theory credits that a student's cognitive attributes, the social environment, personal factors, and behaviors affect the ability to achieve desired performance (Baer & Bandura, 1963; Bandura, 1974; Eun, 2019; Ozer, 2022; Schunk & DiBenedetto, 2020). Vygotsky pioneered the socio-cognitive theory which encourages setting guided, and achievable goals in educational development (Eun, 2019). Astin's student involvement theory postures that the energy and internal motivation of a student influence cognitive thinking and active learning (Astin, 1999; Hunt, 2003; Laniton et al., 2022). The engagement theory stemmed from Vygotsky's sociocognitive theory. It claims that learning should comprise cognitive, social, and behavioral elements to create meaningful and authentic learning experiences (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Miliszewska, 2006; Payne, 2016).

#### **Problem Statement**

Researchers have investigated factors of active learning and their contribution to course achievement (Hodges, 2020; Kahu & Nelson, 2018). Student engagement strategies are viewed as necessary in online learning to produce student success (Cole et al., 2021; Lei et al., 2018). Bowden et al. (2021) composed a comprehensive study pertaining to behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement in the classroom and the cause-and-effect relationship on student achievement in higher education. Further, examining the implication between student engagement and achievement in blending learning (Bowden, 2022). Data are present conferring the correlation between residential learning communities and the student experience, but not student engagement and achievement in residential learning (Hurtado et al., 2019). Literature explores student engagement in online and blended instructional modalities, as well as dissects cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement, but does not fully address engagement and achievement in residential, face-to-face learning (Hurtado et al., 2019; Kahu & Nelson, 2018).

Evidence shows that attendance and achievement scores in residential courses are suffering (Bowers & Myers, 2019; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021). The insufficiencies may be a consequence of curriculum design, teaching style, and engagement in the classroom (Moores et al., 2019). The development of education and technology has affected residential education including Family and Consumer Sciences. Researchers suggest the study of student engagement strategies in the face-to-face modality in FACS higher education, with the desire to sustain achievement rates and program enrollment (Betz-Hamilton, 2021; Cho et al., 2021; Franck & Reeves, 2021). The pivot of education due to COVID-19 and drastic technological changes posed a greater impact on residential programs over the last two years (Guppy et al., 2022; Ramadan et al., 2022). An adaptation of engagement strategies, employing cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement strategies is necessary for program attainment and student achievement in face-to-face instruction, as much as online and blending learning (Bowden et al., 2021; Knudson, 2020). The problem is that cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement and academic achievement, in the form of numerical grades, in residential learning, specifically Family and Consumer Sciences, have not been fully addressed.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this quantitative, causal-comparative design study was to explore the cause-and-effect relationship between student engagement and numerical course grades between residential FACS family and child development and interior design courses. Family and child development courses educate students about family studies (AAFCS, n.d.; Purdue, n.d.). Interior design courses prepare students to design residential and commercial buildings using drafting technologies (Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022). The dependent variables were student engagement scores (student connection, pedagogical factors, classroom environment factors, and student motivation factors), and numerical grade scores. Student engagement scores assessed students' perceptions of their education, their involvement in the course, and their active participation (Bowden et al., 2021; Haug et al., 2019). The scores also determined student connectedness in the classroom (Bowden et al., 2021; Haug et al., 2019). Pedagogical factors of student engagement were examined (Haug et al., 2019). Numerical grade scores were students' final numerical averages earned at the end of the semester. The independent variables were residential FACS interior design and family and child development courses (Kahu & Nelson, 2018; Lindholm-Leary & Borsato, 2002; Winnie & Nesbit, 2010). The courses were studied by surveying students from multiple FACS courses in each program and examining their final grade scores. The courses were determined to compare divergent majors within a Family and Consumer Sciences program; each having varied pedagogical strategies and engagement approaches.

#### Significance of the Study

Current research unveils the concern about student engagement and its behavioral, cognitive, and social constructs, and the lack thereof in higher education courses (Bond & Bedenlier, 2019; Bowden et al., 2021; Dunn & Kennedy, 2019; Gillen-O'Neel, 2021; Hussain et al., 2018; Snijders et al., 2022; Tight, 2020; Wang & Zhu, 2019; Zhoc et al., 2019). Therefore, significant findings would demonstrate an initiative for change in courses that currently lack these classifications of engagement. The facilitation of student engagement within courses is proven to increase assessment scores and final grades (Caruth, 2018; Fisher et al., 2021; Hussain et al., 2018; Lai & Wu, 2019; Lei et al., 2018; Rissanen, 2018; Silvola et al., 2021). The findings may help educators understand the usefulness of student engagement strategies to improve course grades and student satisfaction, as well as institutional retention rates in residential learning and Family and Consumer Sciences programs (Clynes et al., 2020).

Faculty have a large role in producing student engagement in residential courses (Merillat & Scheibmeir, 2016; Susanto et al., 2020). Understanding whether faculty engagement and teaching strategies are critical to all areas of study, including differing course programs, and the influence of numerical grades can be eye-opening for faculty and administration. Previous research illustrates that faculty who utilize quality pedagogical and course engagement strategies in the classroom output higher student grades compared to faculty who see no value in these methods (Merillat & Scheibmeir, 2016; Susanto et al., 2020). The findings may warrant reasoning to offer faculty instructional design training and course improvement at institutions.

Theoretically, the engagement theory served as the groundwork for this research. The engagement theory emphasizes components of engagement to relate, create, and donate (Hew et al., 2018; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Payne, 2016). Kearsley and Shneiderman (1998) claim engagement is a collaboration of students in a social context that provides multiple occasions for active learning. It suggests the necessity of strategic instructional pedagogies and assignment planning to improve student grades and overall success in a course (Payne, 2016). The study examined engagement between residential courses and final grades.

Empirically, there is limited data exploring the relationship between student engagement and academic achievement in residential learning (Bowden et al., 2021). There is also limited data in recent years evaluating the engagement and success rates in Family and Consumer Sciences. The research provided another resource to examine student engagement and achievement concerning numerical grades and will add research to the existing gap. It discussed student engagement in residential Family and Consumer Sciences education which is ambiguous in current literature.

#### **Research Question**

**RQ:** Is there a difference in residential FACS student engagement scores and numerical course average scores among those enrolled in family and child development courses versus interior design courses?

#### Definitions

- Academic Achievement The mastering of skills by using course tools to achieve learning outcomes in the form of final grades, retention rates, and completion rates (Kahu & Nelson, 2018; Lindholm-Leary & Borsato, 2002; Winnie & Nesbit, 2010).
- Behavioral Engagement Student involvement and participation in course activities and assessments (Fredricks et al., 2004; Lee, 2014).
- Cognitive Engagement A student's intellectual feelings towards his education (Maguire et al., 2017).
- 4. *Family and Child Development Programs* Instruct students about family studies through lecture-based and experiential learning (AAFCS, n.d.; Purdue, n.d.).
- 5. *Family and Consumer Sciences (FACS)* interdisciplinarity striving to improve the wellbeing of home and the society (Firebaugh et al., 2010; Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022).

- 6. *Interior Design Programs* Facilitate knowledge of residential, commercial, and medical design with the use of drafting technologies and software (Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022).
- *Residential Learning* Instructing students in a face-to-face modality (Barlow et al., 2020).
- Self-Efficacy An individual's confidence to complete a task within his social environment (Kahu & Nelson, 2018).
- 9. *Social Engagement* The feeling of connectedness, belonging, and community within a course context (Bowden et al., 2021; Xerri et al., 2018).
- 10. *Student Engagement (SE)* Student engagement is student involvement in education and the energy to participate in course content continuously and actively (Astin, 1999; Axelson & Flick, 2010; Bowden et al., 2021; Haug et al., 2019; Maguire et al., 2017).
- Technology Advanced Learning The process of using technologies in education (Dunn & Kennedy, 2019).

#### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **Overview**

A systematic review of the literature was conducted to analyze the cause-and-effect relationship between engagement and achievement in residential, face-to-face learning, with an analysis of Family and Consumer Sciences courses. The literature review converses a theoretical framework, comprising one major theory, the student engagement theory. It explains supporting ideologies, the pillars of engagement and the community of inquiry framework. Student engagement will be defined and categorized as behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement. Factors contributing to engagement and achievement, such as technologies, instructional pedagogies, course design, student perception of engagement, and COVID-19 will be discussed. Moreover, the literature will confer the declining retention rates in the discipline of Family and Consumer Sciences, which commonly links to student engagement and student achievement strategies in the residential classroom. Closing the review, a gap in the literature will be stated, demonstrating a need for the study.

# **Theoretical Framework**

# **Engagement Theory**

The study is grounded in the engagement theory. The engagement theory was established by Greg Kearsley and Ben Shneiderman in 1998. Kearsley and Shneiderman (1998) branched their beliefs from Vygotsky's and John Dewey's learning theories. Both theorists believed experiential and social learning were the basis for teaching and learning (Miliszewska, 2006; Payne, 2016; Zarzycka et al., 2021). The engagement theory is a leading social theory in higher education. Its premise is that effective learning should have cognitive, social, and behavioral engagement through social interaction, and the completion of authentic task-centered assignments (Laniton et al., 2022; Payne, 2016; Zarzycka et al., 2021).

#### **Relate-Create-Donate**

Ben Shneiderman originated the engagement theory in the late 1990s. He believed students should engage in rich and meaningful learning experiences (Hew et al., 2018; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Laniton et al., 2022; Payne, 2016; Romaker, 2021; Smallwood & Brunner, 2017). With the implantation of technology into the classroom, Shneiderman partnered with Greg Kearsley to further expound on the engagement theory (Feroz et al., 2022; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998). Their work sought to integrate the influence of technology on student engagement in the classroom, providing a basis for technology-based instruction (Feroz et al., 2022; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998). The engagement theory comprises three factors: relate, create, and donate (Hew et al., 2018; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Laniton et al., 2022; Payne, 2016; Romaker, 2021).

The first factor, relate, is the process of interacting in group contexts to stimulate planning, managing, and communication (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998). In this component, students should engage with peers, the instructor, and course content while completing assignments and activities (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Smallwood & Brunner, 2017). There should be active discussion between students to share ideas (Carpenter et al., 2022; Gray et al., 2016; Hew et al., 2018; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Payne, 2016). The relate factor comprises partnership and collaboration between individuals within a course, as well as consistent opportunities to engage in social learning (Gallegos et al., 2019; Gray et al., 2016; Smallwood & Brunner, 2017). The relate principle highlights team effort and relationship building (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Payne, 2016; Romaker, 2021; Smallwood & Brunner, 2017). It is believed students experience greater engagement from the relate principle compared to create and donate (Laniton et al., 2022)

The second factor, create, is the application of knowledge to a meaningful and specific project (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998). In this factor, students should be given authority to identify a problem and create a project about a topic of interest (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Laniton et al., 2022; Payne, 2016; Shaughnessy et al., 2010). The create element is usually facilitated through team-based learning (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Laniton et al., 2022). Creating should implicate creativity and display an understanding of learning materials (Feroz et al., 2022). The engagement theory asserts that cooperative learning through creativity improves student motivation and prepares students for future employment (Kelly et al., 2022; Romaker, 2021; Zarzycka et al., 2021). The create factor provides a sense of autonomy over learning; it encourages students to solve real-life issues through scenario-based problems in a collective environment (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Miliszewska, 2006; Smallwood & Brunner, 2017).

The final component of the engagement theory, donate, is the act of "contributing while learning" (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998, p. 20). Student work should provide value for greater purposes to an individual, circumstance or organization (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Payne, 2016; Shaughnessy et al., 2010; Zarzycka et al., 2021). The term "donate" is the act of "giving" work to real-life settings (Feroz et al., 2022; Shaughnessy et al., 2010; Zarzycka et al., 2021). Some research reveals that the donate principle is less substantial for students than relate, but more esteemed than create (Laniton et al., 2022). The donate element is intended for work to be relevant to the course materials and student interest (Feroz et al., 2022). The desire to donate is intrinsically motivated; consequently, students can be disinterested in the donate process. Yet, students often pursue a field of work where they choose to make a difference and donate their efforts (Feroz et al., 2022; Laniton et al., 2022).

The engagement theory supports the use of technology and its role in authentic learning (Feroz et al., 2022; Shaughnessy et al., 2010). Unlike computer-based learning theories in higher education, the engagement theory incites human interaction and the use of technologies in the classroom, as opposed to interaction with technologies alone (Feroz et al., 2022; Miliszewska, 2006). The engagement theory upholds that technology is a vehicle for human interaction (Feroz et al., 2022; Zarzycka et al., 2021). It is a tool that reinforces behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement to generate interaction between students, peers, and course content (Feroz et al., 2022; Kelly et al., 2022; Zarzycka et al., 2021). The technology element is imperative as it stresses the need for educational technologies to carry out student engagement (Feroz et al., 2022; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Miliszewska, 2006; Zarzycka et al., 2021).

### Key Themes

The key themes of the engagement theory are collaboration, authenticity, and projectbased learning (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Kelly et al., 2022; Romaker, 2021; Zarzycka et al., 2021). Collaboration is the interaction between a group to accomplish a task (Kelly et al., 2022; Romaker, 2021; Servant-Miklos, 2020). Instructors should encourage collaboration by establishing team projects and group communication opportunities. Collaborative tools enhance group alliance (Romaker, 2021). A tool can be a learning management system, software, or hands-on device that assists with the achievement of a task. Examples are e-mail, discussion forums, and video recording tools (Kelly et al., 2022). Collaborative tools and activities are necessary to reach maximum student engagement (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Kelly et al., 2022; Servant-Miklos, 2020). Collaboration is a pertinent constituent of the engagement theory (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Payne, 2016; Romaker, 2021).

Authenticity is the art of assigning practical learning assignments that can be applied to real-life circumstances (Briggs et al., 2019; Feroz et al., 2022; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Kelly et al., 2022). Authentic assignments should be useful for learning. In a recent study, groups of students were assigned an authentic assessment to evaluate a company's performance and formulate a cohesive report. The assignment demonstrated authenticity by applying the course material to a scenario that can be used in future employment (Kelly et al., 2022). Thus, authentic assignments should exemplify real-life application (Briggs et al., 2019; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Kelly et al., 2022; Servant-Miklos, 2020). An authentic assignment should benefit an individual, organization, or society (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Servant-Miklos, 2020).

The concept of engaging students in hands-on learning to benefit the greater good is referred to as project-based learning (PBL) (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Servant-Miklos, 2020). The engagement theory supposes that project-based learning and authenticity go hand in hand (Briggs et al., 2019; Kelly et al., 2022). Project-based learning is also referred to as problem-based learning. Problem-based learning originated from Howard Barrows in the early 1960s (Klamen et al., 2022). Howard tested the conception of problem-based learning by assigning a group of medical students to real-life patient cases (Servant-Miklos, 2020). Problem-Based Learning (PBL) conceptualizes students learn best by solving real-life problems (Ali, 2019; Seibert, 2021; Zotou et al., 2020). PBL promotes student engagement, creative thinking skills, and motivation through self-directed learning activities (Ali, 2019; Seibert, 2021). Project and problem-based learning are interchangeable with cooperative learning, which engages

students in authentic experiences, rather than information alone (Ghufron & Ermawati, 2018). The engagement theory advocates authentic learning activities and project-based learning (Servant-Miklos, 2020).

The engagement theory was influenced by Ralph Tyler's principles of curriculum and instruction. Tyler (2013) believed curriculum development should consider learner needs, interests, and experiences. He supposed that instruction should be designed and organized in a way that supports learner engagement with an emphasis on learner community. His principles support behavioral and social engagement concepts present in the engagement theory (Paraskeva, 2021; Parks, 2011; Tyler, 2013).

The engagement theory offers the groundwork for the pillars of engagement (Bowden et al., 2021). Bowden et al. (2021) label the pillars of student engagement as cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement. The pillars of engagement focus on student involvement and active learning (Bowden et al., 2021). Active learning is in the best interest of the student. It should stimulate higher order of thinking that affiliates a student's perceptions and beliefs. The pillars of engagement accentuate the engagement theory. It suggests that the more interested a learner is in a course, the greater the benefits (Bowden et al., 2021; Feroz et al., 2022; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998).

The Community of Inquiry Framework piggybacks off the engagement theory (Zhang, 2020). It holds the idea that residential education should blend face-to-face instructional approaches with technologies (Zhang, 2020). Engagement should epitomize behavioral, cognitive, and social aspects to inspire critical thinking and partnership between peers (Cleveland-Innes, 2019; Heilporn & Lakhal, 2020; Zhang, 2020). Parallel to the engagement

theory, the Community of Inquiry Framework imitates a constructivist's approach to teaching and learning (Zhang, 2020).

The engagement theory will advance the study by determining a foundation for engagement in residential learning. The engagement theory is one of the most prevalent theories relating to student engagement (Bowden et al., 2021; Carpenter et al., 2022). Other ideologies like the Community of Inquiry Framework and Pillars of Engagement support the engagement theory and increase its validity (Zhang, 2020). The engagement theory will support the connection between student engagement and student achievement.

#### **Related Literature**

### **Defining Student Engagement**

Student engagement can be defined in several ways. It is the interest and connectedness of a student in a course, which is termed student involvement (Axelson & Flick, 2010; Badiozaman et al., 2020; Ben-Eliyahu et al., 2018; Bowden et al., 2020; Chiu, 2022; Kobicheva, 2022; Nguyen et al., 2018). Student involvement surrounds a student's values, beliefs, and relevance to a course. Student engagement is also the sustained relationship of a student within a course (Badiozaman et al., 2020; Chiu, 2022; Haug et al., 2019). It is the tenacity and determination to complete class activities (Ben-Eliyahu, et al., 2018; Bowden et al., 2020; Miller et al., 2021). Engagement equates to active learning and commitment to a learning experience (Tani et al., 2021). It is not the continuous achievement of activities alone, but the actual time allocated to accomplish assigned tasks (Nkomo et al., 2021). Haug et al. (2019) developed the Perceptions of Student Engagement, which encapsulates that student engagement is the combination of a student's drive, ideas, and feelings towards education (Haug et al., 2019). Engagement signifies the energy and time exerted to accomplish assignments (Havik & Westergard, 2020; Nkomo et al., 2021; Tani et al., 2021). Broadly, student engagement is the exertion and emotional outlook of a student towards his educational journey (Haug et al., Maguire et al., 2017).

Concluding, student engagement entails both academic and non-academic participation in a student's education. Student engagement is the commitment, interest, and communication between a student with his instructors, peers, and course content (Groccia, 2018; Nguyen et al., 2018). It is the exposition of behaviors in an educational setting that express the dedication of a student to a course (Barlow, 2020; Pace, 1998; Kobcheva et al., 2022). Naibert et al. (2022) signify engagement as the "psychological perspective" of active learning. Hence, student engagement is organized into three categories: cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement (Feroz et al., 2022; Kobcheva et al., 2022; Naibert et al., 2022; Nguyen et al., 2018).

#### **Behavioral Engagement**

Behavioral engagement has a direct correlation with course achievement, and retention rates (Lai, 2021; Nur Hanis et al., 2022). Behavioral engagement can be sorted into the following groups: involvement in education, participation in activities, and affirmative performance in a course (Chiu, 2022; Lai, 2021; Feroz et al., 2022; Naibert et al., 2022; Sara et al., 2022; van Braak et al., 2021; Zhoc et al., 2019). Positive performance correlates with class attendance, responsiveness to the instructor and peers, and student's attitude towards a course. Involvement is the effort to participate in class discussions and assignments; it is persistence and grit (Badiozaman et al., 2020; Chiu, 2022; Lee, 2014; Naibert et al., 2022; Nguyen et al., 2018; Nur Hanis et al., 2022; van Braak et al., 2021). It is student motivation and willingness in a course to produce positive achievement results (Naibert et al., 2022; Nur Hanis et al., 2022). Students participate in behavioral engagement by asking questions, arriving to class on time, meeting deadlines, and completing assigned work. Participation relates to student involvement but can be differentiated by partaking in both in-class and out-of-class activities, such as study groups and team projects (Lee, 2014; van Braak et al., 2021). Hence, behavioral engagement comprises both time and energy of a student in a course (Naibert et al., 2022).

The behavioral reasoning theory, as well as the theory of planned behavior, have been used to evaluate behavioral engagement in higher education. The behavioral reasoning theory coins there is an association between a student's behavior and the motivation for those behaviors. Often, a student's motivation is driven by his values. Values determine whether a student advocates for or against student engagement, leading to engaging or disengaging in a course (Tani et al., 2021). The theory of planned behavior claims that a student's behavior is linked to his attitude. Student behavior in a class is associated with his feelings and intrinsic motivation (Tani et al., 2021). Positive behavioral engagement is the regular contribution in a class and the tenacity to endure despite challenges (Bowden, 2021).

## Cognitive Engagement

Cognitive engagement, sometimes confused with emotional engagement, is the emotional and intellectual investment in a course (Naibert et al., 2022; Sara et al., 2022). It is characterized by a student's outlook on his education (Chiu, 2022; Huang et al., 2019; Maguire et al., 2017; Sara et al., 2022). Cognitive engagement is the eagerness to achieve proficiency in skills and knowledge of course materials (Chiu, 2022; Feroz et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2019; Kobicheva, 2022; Naibert et al., 2022). It is the usefulness of instruction and attentiveness in class (Kobicheva, 2022; Sara et al., 2022).

There is positive and negative cognitive engagement. Negative cognitive engagement is the poor emotional response to a course and its instructional materials. Positive cognitive engagement is having optimism about a course (Kobicheva, 2022; Pace, 1998). Barlow et al. (2020), elucidate that a student should shift from surface-level cognitive engagement to meaningful processing. There must be authentic activities and learning materials to provoke student interest and cognitive engagement (Barlow et al., 2020). An absence of cognitive presence in a course, meaning the incorporation of reflective assignments and discussion, can influence cognitive engagement (Almasi & Zhu, 2020).

Cognitive engagement is alleged to have the highest influence on academic learning and memory retention. The reason being it connects to personal reflection, and intellectual determination in a course (Nur Han et al, 2022; Zhoc et al., 2019). Cognitive engagement entails self-regulation and scholarship. It is taking personal responsibility and ownership of learning (Nur Han et al., 2022; Smallwood & Brunner, 2017). It aligns with the self-regulation theory, which explains a four-step process. The theory declares that students should create personal academic goals. They must demonstrate a willingness to achieve the goals and maintain the drive to accomplish them (Park & Kim, 2022; Zhoc et al., 2019). Likewise, students exhibit selfefficacy to engage cognitively. Self-efficacy is an individual's deliberations and emotional view of his abilities to achieve tasks (You, 2022). Students obtain both self-efficacy and selfregulation in higher education learning (You, 2022). Moreover, cognitive engagement is the desire and exertion to learn course materials to procure behavioral and social engagement (Kobicheva, 2022; Smallwood & Brunner, 2017).

# Social Engagement

Social engagement is the impression that students feel a sense of belonging in an educational environment, also known as student connectedness (Bowden et al., 2021; Xerri et al., 2018). Social engagement composes student-student and student-instructor relationships (Zhoc et
al., 2019). Student-student relationships are built by interacting in class discussions, and team projects, while student-instructor relationships develop through communication by e-mail, inperson conversation, and instructor-developed content. Relationship building and human interaction are integral to social engagement (Naibert et al., 2022; Miller et al., 2021; Xerri et al., 2018; Zhoc et al., 2019).

The sentiment of belonging in a community is desired in higher education. The concept of community has four components: influence, fulfillment, membership, and emotional connection. Fulfillment is the act of meeting one's feelings of acceptance. Influence is a feeling of significance. Emotional connection is the feeling of relatedness through similarities, beliefs, experiences, and personal backgrounds (Fengyan et al., 2017). Social engagement is equivalent to social presence. Social presence includes three parts: group context, communication, and open expression (Choo et al., 2020). Constructing synergistic and originative assignments surges social engagement and foster a sense of belonging (Choo et al., 2020; Park & Kim, 2022).

Social engagement stems from the social learning theory, which claims that social interaction is critical to the learning process (Park & Kim, 2022). Students have a greater initiative to complete coursework when intermingling with others. Teamwork and collaborative assignments not only enrich learning but incite problem-solving. In group contexts, students have opportunities to use their strengths and rely on classmates in areas of weakness (Feroz et al., 2022; Lin & Huang, 2020; Park & Kim, 2022). Students help one another learn (Feroz et al., 2022). Social engagement plays a central role in sustaining student motivation and improving academic performance (Morrison et al., 2019; Park & Kim, 2022).

## **Student Engagement in Residential Learning**

Residential instruction culminates social, behavioral, and cognitive engagement (Smith, 2018). Residential learning requires the use of technological tools and effective pedagogical strategies (Farrell & Brunton, 2020; Guggemos & Seufert, 2021; Lai, 2021). There are components that affect residential engagement, including student perception of engagement. Each component has influence on student achievement.

## **Residential Learning**

Residential learning also referred to as face-to-face instruction, is a traditional teaching approach (Barlow et al., 2020). Student engagement in residential instruction comprises cognitive, social, and behavioral engagement (Barlow et al., 2020). Students receive human interaction by communicating in person with peers and the instructor. The social presence of residential learning is the most distinct component of student engagement in academics (Smith, 2018). Student engagement in residential courses is contingent on the instructor's pedagogical teaching methodologies. Instructors who fail to engage students in lectures and activities can have disengaged classrooms. Disengaged classrooms trigger a disinterest in the subject, and reduce student involvement (Farrell & Brunton, 2020). Instructors should exploit interactive technologies, and modern pedagogical strategies to effectively carry out behavioral, social, and cognitive engagement (Farrell & Brunton, 2020; Guggemos & Seufert, 2021; Lai, 2021).

#### **Residential Learners**

The characteristics of residential learners and their preferences of student engagement contribute to student achievement, retention rates, and student perception of engagement (Szymkowiak et al., 2021; Yastibas et al., 2021). Born between 1995 to the mid-2000s, Gen Zs are the primary generational learner in face-to-face higher education (Johnson & Sveen, 2020; Szymkowiak et al., 2021; Yastibas et al., 2021). Unlike generations of the past, Gen Zs are digital natives (Johnson & Sveen, 2020; Szymkowiak et al., 2021). Technology has always been part of their lives and interactions, influencing their personality and learning styles (Johnson & Sveen, 2020; Yastibas et al., 2021).

Technology is a form of communication that directs student learning experiences in higher education (Johnson & Sveen, 2020). Over 90% of generation Z students use social media daily (Beck & Wright, 2019). As avid technology users, they prefer digital content and high usage of technological tools in the classroom (Szymkowiak et al., 2021; Yastibas et al., 2021). It is expected for instructors to use supplemental digital technologies in teaching to engage students (Johnson & Sveen, 2020). The inclusion of mobile devices and technologies in the classroom should be part of the learning experience (Beck & Wright, 2019).

The mandate of technology in residential learning poses a challenge for educators. Instructors should maintain engagement to produce academic achievement output, comprising of visual content and digital interaction as opposed to lectures and written content (Rue, 2018). For instance, Rue (2018) reports Gen Z learners purchase fewer hard copy textbooks and prefer digital copies. The preferences of a Gen Z student are vastly changing. Thus, a culmination of instructional pedagogies and technologies are used for student engagement and increasing class success (Beck & Wright, 2019; Yastibas et al., 2021).

The examination of Gen Z students is vital to understanding how the current generation of residential learners perceives student engagement. Gen Z students aspire to learn independently through active learning to accommodate their predilections (Yastibas et al., 2021). Scrutinizing students' perceptions about engagement can be insightful for instructors to better understand how to engage these types of learners with the hopes of augmenting student achievement and retention rates. Though technology and Gen Z learner characteristics have changed immensely, behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement strategies have remained a constant in residential higher education courses (Szymkowiak et al., 2021).

### **Student Perception About Engagement**

Student perception of engagement should not be confused with actual engagement (Haug et al., 2019). Students are engaged when they are participating in learning; whereas student perception of engagement is a student's view of engagement in the classroom (Bacon, 2016; Haug et al., 2019). Students have a perception of enjoyment, usefulness, and self-efficacy in class (Mahdi, 2021). If students lack enjoyment in a course, they are more likely to have a skewed view of engagement, earn lower course grades, and retain less course information (Mahdi, 2021; Martin & Bolliger, 2018). Students also gauge whether course content is useful to their endeavors, which can distort their view of engagement approaches (Mahdi, 2021). Student self-efficacy, which is their view of their personal abilities to achieve course objectives and succeed in a course, is influential in student perception of engagement. A student's view of his capabilities can affect his perception of engagement (Mahdi, 2021; Martin & Bolliger, 2018).

Students perceive that instructor presence in higher education is necessary for student engagement. Instructor and student interactions are deemed the most valuable to learners (Martin & Bolliger, 2018; Sriram et al., 2020). Students perceive it is the instructor's obligation to create authentic and meaningful courses and to be approachable (Martin & Bolliger, 2018). Instructor presence is a strength of residential face-to-face learning. However, residential instruction can lack interactive instructor presence, which results in poor cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement (Martin & Bolliger, 2018). Students are satisfied and feel engaged in residential courses when instructors are involved (Haug et al., 2019; Sriram et al., 2020). A study found that instructors who employ a "nudge" system to engage students through communication boost student success, whereas minimal interaction between the instructor and student minimizes student success (Brown et al., 2022; Lawrence et al., 2021). A "nudge" system points to instructor involvement as a factor of engagement and student achievement. Instructor presence is a strong element of student engagement in residential learning (Brown et al., 2022; Sriram et al., 2020).

Generation Z learners are the primary learners in residential education (Johnson & Sveen, 2020; Szymkowiak et al., 2021; Yastibas et al., 2021). Generation Z learners associate engagement with active learning. Active learning is any teaching approach that stirs students to interact with peers, the instructor, and course content (Haug et al., 2019; Johnson & Sveen, 2020; Szymkowiak et al., 2021; Yastibas et al., 2021). It surges engagement and achievement in the classroom (Knudson, 2020). Active learning exercises can include class discussions, projects, self-assessments, demos and illustrations, technology-enhanced learning, and quizzes (Knudson, 2020). In the Perception of Student Engagement Instrument, Haug et al. (2019) share that evaluating engagement from the learners' perspective is important to distinguish the best tools for active learning. In a study conducted by Haug et al. (2019), groups of undergraduate residential students were surveyed on their perceptions of student engagement. They discovered students feel engaged when there is positive instructor presence and class environment, class discussions, and social interaction (Haug et al., 2019). Residential learners seek meaningful social connections. They feel engaged when they develop relationships with peers and the instructor and feel connected with the course content (Sriram et al., 2020). Haug et al. (2019) classify student perception into four categories: pedagogical strategies, student connection, class environment, and student motivation. Each category aligns with the components of engagement and concurs that students have a higher perception of learning in the occurrence of behavioral,

social, and cognitive engagement (Bowden et al., 2021). Furthermore, student perception of engagement influences the selection of instructional pedagogy strategies and the employment of tools that will foster actual engagement in residential higher education courses (Bacon, 2016; Haug et al., 2019).

#### Pedagogical Strategies

Student engagement is influenced by pedagogical strategies. An instructor's approach to teaching can inhibit cognitive growth and involvement in a course, as well as increase student participation and motivation to complete course activities (Asif et al., 2021). Disengagement is a ubiquitous issue in residential learning (Asif et al., 2021). There are several popular pedagogical strategies in residential higher education. The literature review will discuss lecture-based instruction, blended learning, technology-enhanced learning, and flipped learning (Sexton & Garner, 2020).

Lecture-based instruction is viewed as a traditional pedagogical strategy. It is principally used in residential higher education (Ferree et al., 2022). Lecture-based teaching communicates information to a large group of students while minimizing cognitive overload (Ferree et al., 2022; Santos et al., 2019). It supports cognitive engagement, as well as social engagement with the assistance of instructor engagement (Ferree et al., 2022). Nonetheless, lecture-based instruction can limit higher order of thinking and active learning in the classroom without the conjunction of in-class activities and discussion (Santos et al., 2019).

The flipped learning approach requires instructors to prepare interactive materials and assignments before class attendance (Huang et al., 2019; Talan, 2019). The purpose is for students to engage in class by discussing lessons learned and then solve problems in a group setting (Talan, 2019). Lai (2021) claims effective flipped learning obliges students to

demonstrate behavioral engagement and participate in course activities. Flipped learning facilitates conversation between instructors and students (Lai, 2021; Lee & Choi, 2019). The advantages of flipped learning are to encourage student involvement in his education, engage in course materials, and increase retention of information (Huang et al., 2019). The flipped classroom approach supports behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement, and increases participation, and student achievement (Talan, 2019).

The theory of student engagement identifies project-based learning (PBL) as a pertinent instructional pedagogy for interactive learning (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Servant-Miklos, 2020). In project-based learning, students are assigned tasks that require problem-solving, and application of knowledge learned in class (Duchovicova et al., 2018; Greenier, 2020; Maros et al., 2021; Rugen, 2019). The foundation of PBL is to engage learners through hands-on assignments. In addition to problem-solving, PBL inspires creativity, critical thinking, communication, and collaborative efforts (Duchovicova et al., 2018; Greenier, 2020; Rugen, 2019). It spurs class discussion and inquiry and provides a sense of self-sufficiency over student learning (Choi et al., 2019; Hudakova & Papcunova, 2019; Maros et al., 2021). Project-based learning is a student-centered learning approach, instead of a teacher-centered learning approach (Choi et al., 2019; Greenier, 2020; Hudakova & Papcunova, 2019; Maros et al., 2021). It is supposed that PBL is highly effective in traditional education. It enriches learning experiences, as well as improves academic achievement in residential education (Chen & Yang, 2019; Maros et al., 2021).

Most often, instructors use a blending learning approach (BL) (Lane et al., 2021). A blended learning approach combines several pedagogical teaching and learning strategies in the classroom. In residential learning, instructors administer lectures with a culmination of active learning strategies and the incorporation of digital technologies (Lane et al., 2021). The basis of a blended learning approach is to prompt interaction to produce more authentic learning experiences, in turn, improving course achievement (Lane et al., 2021).

Instructional pedagogy contributes to course achievement and engagement in higher education (Sexton & Garner, 2020). Transformative instructional teaching strategies, such as blended learning, and project-based learning, demonstrate experiential learning approaches that can drastically change the outcome of course completion rates and the accomplishment of course objectives (Asif et al., 2021; Wang, 2017). These specific pedagogical approaches are central to analyze in Family and Consumer Sciences.

## Instructional Technologies

Technology is replacing traditional methods of instructional pedagogies to increase student motivation and engagement in the classroom (Feroz et al., 2022; Rahman et al., 2020; Romli et al., 2020). Technology can touch each aspect of engagement in meaningful and authentic ways (Feroz et al., 2022; Nkomo et al., 2021; Passey, 2019). The use of instructional technologies impels behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement (Nkomo et al., 2021; Zhoc et al., 2019). Researchers claim technology has altered traditional education (Roehl et al., 2013; Romli et al., 2020). First, it has changed how instructors deliver information to students. Second, students have the option to engage in course content outside of the face-to-face classroom. Third, technology allows instructors to create curriculum that meets the needs of diverse learners and learning styles. Fourth, instructors can "chunk" information by providing small bites of content at once (Roehl et al., 2013).

There are several forms of technology to engage students. Learning management systems are primary technology tools used to promote student collaboration and engagement (Nkomo et

al., 2021; Rhode et al., 2017). Learning management systems host discussion forums, video recordings, and nurture group and problem-based activities. These tools help exhibit behavioral, emotional, cognitive, and social engagement, and promote student achievement (Nkomo et al., 2021; Umer et al., 2018).

Other forms of technological tools are websites, and games (Roehl et al., 2013). Gamification impacts student engagement in residential learning (Huang et al., 2019). It is the use of digital gaming to foment behavioral engagement. A few gaming strategies are leaderboards, badges, game rooms, and progress trackers (Huang et al., 2019). Commonly, residential instructors host virtual games using online technologies in a team setting (Huang et al., 2019).

Social media enhances student engagement by cultivating cognitive engagement and igniting student interest in educational activities (Denker et al., 2018; Koff, 2021; Umer et al., 2018). Social media contains systems of social networks on internet applications that allow users to exchange and share information, such as Facebook, Instagram, Pinterest, Twitter, YouTube, and blogs (Koff, 2021; Rahman et al., 2020). It is advantageous for instructors to incorporate social media networks as an instructional technology. Rahman et al. (2020) explain social media in higher education can evoke punctual communication between instructors, students, and peers, a sense of community, and sharing of innovative ideas. Social media attracts student attention and proposes behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement opportunities (Koff, 2021; Rahman et al., 2020). Social media relates to students; therefore, can foster engagement (Denker et al., 2018; Koff, 2021; Nkomo et al. 2021; Umer et. al., 2018).

Studies have been conducted to examine face-to-face courses that use technologyenhanced learning compared to those that do not, leading to the notion that technology-enhanced learning produces better academic results in higher education (Shen & Ho, 2020). TEL should be paired with behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement strategies (Dunn & Kennedy, 2019; Passey, 2019). Moreover, examining technology-enhanced learning in residential higher education aids educators to understand how to engage students and generate academic achievement (Shen & Ho, 2020). Operating digital technology in higher education is a means for student engagement and student success (Clynes et al., 2020; Passey, 2019; Siddiq et al., 2017).

## Course Design

Studies show that student satisfaction and engagement deplete with inadequate course design (Newell & Bain, 2020). Course design is the navigability of a course shell in a learning management system, as well as the development of class activities, and assessments. Poor course design disturbs the student experience and decreases cognitive and behavioral engagement (Yang, 2017). Course design cannot be confused with course delivery. Course delivery is the communication of course content to students. Delivery is the channel of relaying course material to students (Hollowell et al., 2017). Course design is the arrangement of the course. The course should be structured in a clear and organized way that subsidizes the meaning of course material and endorses engagement (Yang, 2017). In residential learning, course design is the adequate preparation and development of course activities, along with the use of instructional strategies and technologies to engage learners (Hollowell et al., 2017; Yang, 2017).

Course design is the intentional flow of a course. Disorganized course structures affect the probability of students engaging in behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement (Yang, 2017). Instructors who facilitate collaborative learning and utilize effective instructional pedagogical strategies enhance student engagement and promote interest in course material. Instructional pedagogy, course design, and course delivery influence behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement and academic achievement in residential learning (Yang, 2017).

### **Engagement and Achievement in Higher Education**

Engagement has been investigated in higher education with the purpose to improve student achievement. Achievement is subjective but can be measured using several variables: student attitudes, mastery of skills, attainment rates, retention rates, numerical grades, and course completion (Kahu & Nelson, 2018; Tight, 2020). Academic achievement is described as acquiring proficiencies to succeed academically and in society (Lindholm-Leary & Borsato, 2002). In higher education courses, students obtain metacognitive skills by utilizing assessment tools to achieve final numerical scores. These scores are markers of achievement at institutions (Tight, 2020; Winnie & Nesbit, 2010).

The connection between student engagement and achievement is reflected by course grades and retention rates (Brown et al., 2022; Kobicheva, 2022; Lee, 2014; Peiser et al., 2022; Tight, 2020). As mentioned, student engagement increases retention and course completion rates and produces higher grades (Kobicheva, 2022; Lee, 2014). Low levels of engagement reduce student achievement (Lawrence et al., 2021) Contrary, high levels of engagement increase achievement probability (Peiser et al., 2022). Courses that have high levels of behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement result in higher course grades, which are often a factor of assessment for universities (Tight, 2020). Engagement strategies are proven to increase numerical grade scores, achievement of course objectives, and diminish withdrawal rates (Datu, 2018; Kobcheva et al., 2022; Lawrence et al., 2021; Naibert et al., 2022). An absence of engagement connects to lower course grades, incompletion of assignments, higher withdrawal and retention rates, and achievement of course outcomes (Naibert et al., 2022).

## **COVID -19**

COVID-19 transferred residential learning to online learning in 2020. The abrupt switch of modalities altered student engagement expectations and achievement (Durr et al., 2021; Koff, 2021; Sharma & Alvi, 2021; Zheng et al., 2020). The sharp modification to residential learning in 2020, had a severe impact on programs in residential education (Zheng et al., 2020). Students and instructors could not meet physically, barring social engagement. There was a minimization of student motivation, affecting behavioral and cognitive engagement (Koff, 2021). Instructors struggled to navigate digital technologies and teach in a less familiar format. Higher education resumed in 2021, but the expectations for innovative digital technologies remained (Zheng et al., 2020).

Post-COVID pandemic, digital growth has erupted in residential education (Koff, 2021; Zheng et al., 2020). Once viewed as an optional addition to face-to-face instruction, instructors are now expected to integrate numerable instructional technologies to engage students (Sharma & Alvi, 2021; Zheng et al., 2020). Researchers label the shift in technology as the digital transformation in higher education (Zheng et al., 2020). Studies reveal that instructors who use multiple forms of technologies post-COVID have increased retention, engagement, and achievement rates (Koff, 2021).

Students report being "bored" and unimpressed in classrooms post-COVID-19 (Greener, 2022). Before the pandemic, digital technologies were a resolution to enhance engagement in face-to-face learning. Currently, technologies are a norm in the classroom (Greener, 2022). Research shows technology is replacing genuine social engagement (Radhamani et al., 2021). Data is still being explored regarding the damaging effects of technologies on engagement and achievement in residential learning (Radhamani et al., 2021). The need to examine student

engagement and its correspondence to achievement has increased to accommodate the progressive changes in higher education (Greener, 2022; Radhamani et al., 2021).

#### **Family and Consumer Sciences in Residential Higher Education**

Ellen Swallow Richards, a prominent scientist, founded human ecology in 1909 to merge the role of the home and the well-being of society (Duncan, 2018; McGregor, 2020; White & White, 2018). Richards later changed the name to Family and Consumer Sciences (McGregor, 2020). An advocate of women's education in the 19<sup>th</sup> century, Catharine Beecher, designed a curriculum to equip girls and women with life skills to flourish in the home and to use for future careers. Beecher pushed for the instruction of domestic economics, which carried over into higher education (Lovsin Kozina, 2021; Werhan & Whitbeck, 2017). There was an expansion of women enrollment in higher institutions, initiating the inquiry of domestic chemistry and life skills (Duncan, 2018; Laura, 2020; Werhan & Whitbeck, 2017). By the 1900s, home economics was fundamental to secondary and post-secondary education (AAFCS, n.d.; Duncan, 2018; Werhan & Whitbeck, 2017).

Today, Family and Consumer Sciences is considered an interdisciplinary, which groups several disciplines into one topic of study (Haapaniemi et al., 2019). It is a liberal arts discipline that seeks to solve complex issues in society (Duncan, 2018). Previously a broad discipline, FACS departments have developed respective specializations in FACS higher education programs. A few of these disciplines are interior design, family and child development, textiles and fashion, food and nutrition, and FACS education (AAFCS, n.d.; Duncan, 2018; Firebaugh et al., 2010).

#### Family and Consumer Sciences Programs

Two programs generally offered at higher institutions are family and child development and interior design. Interior design emphasizes project-based learning, while family and child development focuses on lecture-based teaching with experiential learning (AAFCS, n.d.; Mosenson & Fox, 2011; Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021). Both majors are predominantly offered in face-to-face, residential programs (Duncan, 2018). There are differences and similarities between the two majors, which contribute student engagement and academic achievement.

### **Interior Design**

Interior Design is a concentrated discipline in Family and Consumer Sciences. According to Pulay and Tibbitts (2022), there are nearly 100 Family and Consumer Science higher education programs that offer interior design, not including institutions that host interior design under another department. Interior design embodies planning, analysis, documentation, design, management, and construction of residential and commercial buildings (Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022). Interior design students enroll in rigorous course programs to master technological programs for drafting and 3D design (Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022). It is mandated that certified interior designers earn an adequate interior design education to gain employment (Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022). They must have sufficient knowledge of accessibility and building codes, as well as consider the clients' well-being, needs, wants, and health (Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022). Interior design students examine the relationship between their designs, and the environment (Deaton et al., 2018; Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022).

Instructional pedagogies suitable for interior design instruction are a project-based learning, formative and summative critiques, and blended learning approaches (Fathallah, 2021). As discussed, project-based learning is an instructional approach that uses hands-on active learning through the completion of meaningful projects (Song et al., 2020). Project-based learning promotes student engagement in interior design and enables students the opportunity to gain mastery of skills, especially with the design of buildings (Fathallah, 2021). Lecture-based learning is still applicable for interior design education but in conjunction with authentic projectbased learning assignments (Fathallah, 2021).

Interior design should combine cooperative learning, traditional learning, and projectbased learning strategies to generate effective instruction (Fathallah, 2021). Part of cooperative learning is critiquing. Critiquing is a formative assessment process. It entails providing constructive feedback to peers for improvement (McDonald et al., 2019). Critiquing is believed to be foundational to design instruction (Fathallah, 2021; McDonald et al., 2019). Students remark critiquing as integral to their learning as it sparks social engagement and builds on knowledge and expertise (McDonald et al., 2019).

The discipline of interior design requires students to develop technical skills and proficiency in 2D and 3D illustrator programs (Arslan & Dazkir, 2017). Dissimilar to some FACS specializations, interior design students rely on project-based learning for student engagement and academic achievement (Arslan & Dazkir, 2017; Fathallah, 2021). A lack of pedagogical strategies and engagement in interior design courses can prohibit successful academic achievement, and impact retention rates and program sustainability (Arslan & Dazkir, 2017; Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022).

### Family and Child Development

Family studies is one of the largest disciplines in the field of Family and Consumer Sciences (AAFCS, n.d.; Duncan, 2018). The major of family studies explores child and human development from early childhood education and beyond. Courses instruct students with a range of knowledge about children, family, marriage, counseling, foster care, and social work (Bridgewater, 2022). Family and child development programs meet the core concepts of Family and Consumer Sciences: to meet basic human needs, support community vitality and individual well-being, and family strengths. The program of study seeks to care about the role of family and societal issues (AAFCS, n.d.; Duncan, 2018; Handy et al., 2021).

Family and child development students learn through lecture-based and experiential instruction (Bridgewater, 2022). Experiential learning is active learning through experiences. Unlike project-based learning, experiential is less likely to be cooperative as students gain personal experiences and observations (Bonacquisti & McElwaine, 2019; Langlais, 2018). Experiential learning helps students cultivate skills to manage family and societal issues through appropriate practice (Bonacquisti & McElwaine, 2019).

In addition to experiential learning, the best pedagogical practices for teaching courses relevant to family studies include the operation of technology, peer interaction, and assessments (Bonacquisti & McElwaine, 2019). Family and child development programs equip students with an extensive range of expertise to apply to careers. The American Association of Family and Consumer Sciences recently developed an FCS*fit* curriculum aligning with the family and child development courses. The curriculum is part of a strategic plan to create resources that benefit the well-being of others (Williams-Wheeler et al., 2022). Students partake in a minimum of 20 hours of field experience by teaching children and families healthy eating and fitness habits (Williams-Wheeler et al., 2022). The experiential initiative is a prime example of student education and engagement strategies in family and child development studies.

Student Engagement & Pedagogies in Family and Consumer Sciences

Family and Consumer Sciences require an integrative approach to teaching and learning (Haapaniemi et al., 2019; Poirier et al., 2017; Smith, 2018). Instructors use an assortment of pedagogies by blending lecture-based instruction, project-based learning, and experiential approaches (Deaton et al., 2018; Smith, 2018). Project-based learning is found deep in the historical roots of Family and Consumer Sciences (Deaton et al., 2018; Poirier et al., 2017). Ellen Swallow Richards grounded home ecology on the ideology that authentic experiences are indispensable for students to learn and meet the needs of society (Deaton et al., 2018).

Experiential learning can be achieved through project-based learning; nevertheless, the pedagogy approaches are differentiated in Family and Consumer Sciences, especially in the field of interior design and family and child development. Family and child development uses lecture-based and experiential learning methods through practical field experience hours, practicums, and observation studies (Efstratia, 2014; Roberts, 2018; Williams-Wheeler et al., 2022). Interior design courses exploit lecture-based instruction and experiential learning but mainly use project-based learning. Project-based learning strives to produce a product (Poirier et al., 2022). PBL allows students to articulate ideas to apply knowledge that will be used in real-life circumstances (Durr et al., 2021).

Like all residential programs, Family and Consumer Sciences was required to move from face-to-face instruction to online education in 2020. The emergency change from residential instruction to online instruction halted experiential learning (Durr et al., 2021). Labs were closed for students. Cooperative groups subsided (Durr et al., 2021). Field experience was canceled (Durr et al., 2021). Despite innovative online engagement strategies, experiential learning could not be mimicked in an online modality (Durr et al., 2021).

Returning to face-to-face instruction post-pandemic, Family and Consumer Science educators were expected to orchestrate project-based and experiential instructional pedagogies with technology-enhanced learning (Durr et al., 2021). Instructors face the challenges of recording and streaming live class sessions while lecturing and implementing active learning (Chen & Yang, 2019; Curtis, 2021). The instructional efforts used in 2020 must simultaneously be paired with engagement strategies of the pre-COVID era (Curtis, 2021). Considering these changes, engaging students behaviorally, cognitively, and socially is more convoluted (Curtis, 2021; Sharma & Alvi, 2021). Lastly, there has been increased online learning enrollment rates post-COVID, which poses a challenge for Family and Consumer Science programs to maintain program sustainability and retention rates (Sharma & Alvi, 2021).

#### Family and Consumer Sciences Retention & Sustainability

The regression of retention rates in FACS residential higher education programs has led to the scrutinizing the link between student engagement and achievement (Bowers & Myers, 2019; Dainty et al., 2011; Pulay & Tripp, 2022; SCSU, 2018; Stephenson et al., 2020; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021). Retention is usually a result of a student's expectations not being met. Expectations can relate to class anticipations, lack of motivation, student interest, nuisances, and financial paucities to pay for institutional tuition and fees (Sara et al., 2022; Stephenson et al., 2020). The lack of faculty involvement also contributes to retention rates (Stephenson et al., 2020).

Over the last twenty years, the discipline of Family and Consumer Sciences has experienced a restructuring (Duncan, 2018; Pucciarelli et al., 2016; Werhan & Whitbeck, 2017). Many institutions have dispersed the FACS specialty disciplines from the Department of Family and Consumer Sciences and placed them under other departments as subdisciplines (Duncan, 2018; Montevallo, 2020; Pucciarelli et al., 2016; Werhan & Whitbeck, 2017). Some institutions are refraining from naming departments Family and Consumer Sciences and listing their disciplines under more eminent and larger departments, like Human Services (Duncan, 2018). Data shows a decrease in specializations, especially within the field of Family and Consumer Sciences education and fashion (Dainty et al., 2011; Montevallo, 2020; SFASU, 2020). Family and Consumer Sciences programs have experienced a decline in new student enrollment and shifting retention rates over the last six years (Montevallo, 2020; North Carolina Agriculture, 2022; SFASU, 2020). The challenges to maintain sustainability of postsecondary Family and Consumer Sciences programs are rising. The reasons are suggested to be a combination of interaction and engagement in the FACS programs, and the overall lost knowledge of FACS as a discipline (Duncan, 2018; Werhan & Whitbeck, 2017).

Retention sustainability is present at institutions hosting FACS departments. An example is the diminution of FACS teacher education programs and the shortage of capable FACS instructors (Duncan, 2018; Werhan & Whitbeck, 2017). The lack of engagement in Family and Consumer Sciences is causing poor retention rates. Part of this is due to the complexity and diversity required for FACS educators to teach a variety of content areas and facilitate behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement in the classroom (Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022). With fewer than 30 institutions accredited by the American Association of Family and Consumer Sciences, there is a need to evaluate the factors that impact retention and program sustainability, which point to student engagement and achievement (AAFCS, n.d.; Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022).

#### Summary

Student engagement is defined as the connectedness and student involvement in a course. Student engagement equates to student success in residential learning, measured by course completion rates and numerical grades. The engagement theory outlines the major components of student engagement and is the foundation of this literature review. The pillars of engagement and the community of inquiry framework support this theory. The literature discusses that student engagement comprises cognitive, behavioral, and social elements. Behavioral engagement manifests through class discussions and participation in-class activities. Cognitive engagement is the value of academic assignments, perceptions, and beliefs of students to contribute to a class. Social engagement produces a feeling of belonging and purpose. It is the community of a classroom, as well as the interaction between a student, his instructor, and peers. The relationship between a student and instructor holds immense weight to student connectedness in a course.

The literature concurs that authentic learning experiences are pertinent to engagement and achievement, which is facilitated through active instructional pedagogies. Project-based learning and experiential learning are pivotal to engaging students in authentic experiences. Instructional technologies assist with student engagement. Formerly, technology was an asset to engagement and achievement, but research shows that the integration of technology in the classroom is expected, especially following COVID-19.

Generally, literature explores student engagement in online and blended instructional modalities, as well as dissects cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement, but does not fully address engagement and achievement in residential, face-to-face learning, especially with an evaluation of Family and Consumer Sciences. With a vast decline in FACS retention rates, student engagement may be the bridge to student success and program retention. Furthermore, the purpose of this literature review was to review present literature relevant to the study to explore the cause-and-effect relationship between student engagement and numerical course grades between residential FACS courses.

#### **CHAPTER THREE: METHODS**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this causal-comparative design study was to determine if there is a causeand-effect relationship between student engagement and numerical grade scores among two groups of Family and Consumer Sciences courses. Chapter three begins by introducing the design of the study, including full definitions of each variable. The participants and setting, instrumentation, procedures, and data analysis plans are presented.

### Design

The quantitative research study employed a causal-comparative, non-experimental design. A causal-comparative design identifies relationships between independent and dependent variables (Creswell & Creswell, 2014; Gall et al., 2010; Lenell & Boissoneau, 1996). It is suitable for comparisons of two or more groups. Because causal-comparative design is non-experimental, there is no random assignment. A causal-comparative design cannot confirm results like an experimental design. The design can only make claims about a relationship between variables (Gall et al., 2010). The causal-comparative design does not validate cause-and-effect relationships but compares cause-and-effect relationships between groups of variables (Lehmann & Mehrens, 1979; Lenell & Boissoneau, 1996). The defining characteristic of the causal-comparative design is that the independent variable is categorical (Gall et al., 2010).

The causal-comparative design method is also referred to as the ex-facto method or an "after the fact" design (Umstead, 2018). The method is helpful to discover the "why" of a particular phenomenon (Lenell & Boissoneau, 1996; Umstead et al., 2018). It is the inquiry of a prediction process with an analysis of the future, rather than the past; therefore, the relationship between the variables must exist prior to conducting the study (Gall et al., 2010; Lenell &

Boissoneau, 1996). Since the relationship between the variables is present before conducting the study, the variables cannot be manipulated (Gall et al., 2010; Lenell & Boissoneau, 1996; Umstead et al., 2018). Data should be collected on pre-formed groups. The purpose is to reveal if the independent and dependent variables relate by examining a cause-and-effect relationship (Gall et al., 2010; Lenell & Boissoneau, 1996; O'Dwyer & Bernauer, 2014; Umstead et al., 2018).

The researcher used a causal-comparative design method to examine relationships of student engagement between pre-existing groups of higher education FACS courses (Lenell & Boissoneau, 1996; Umstead et al., 2018). The causal-comparative design method was reasonable for the study to distinguish relationships between the independent variables. The independent variables for this study were categorical, residential FACS courses, FACD 3000, FACD 3001, FACD 3002, FAID 3000, FAID 3001, and FAID 3002. The dependent variables were student engagement scores and numerical grade scores (Lenell & Boissoneau, 1996; Umstead et al., 2018). The researcher's purpose was to identify the cause-and-effect relationship between student engagement and numerical grade scores between the two groups of FACS courses (Lenell & Boissoneau, 1996; Umstead et al., 2018). The study observed the relationship between student engagement scores (student connection, pedagogical factors, classroom environment factors, and student motivation factors), and numerical grade scores between two groups of higher education FACS courses (Gall et al., 2010).

The dependent variables for this study were student engagement scores, and numerical grade scores. The independent variables were residential FACS interior design and family and child development courses. The dependent variable, student engagement scores, examined

student connection in the course, pedagogical factors, classroom environment, and student motivation (Haug et al., 2019).

#### **Research Question**

**RQ**: Is there a difference in residential FACS student engagement scores and numerical course average scores among those enrolled in family and child development courses versus interior design courses?

### **Hypothesis**

The null hypothesis for this study is:

Ho: There is no difference in residential FACS student engagement scores and numerical course average scores among those enrolled in family and child development courses versus interior design courses.

#### **Participants and Setting**

This section will provide detail regarding descriptive statistics for the causalcomparative, non-experimental study. There will be a description of the participants, population, sample size, and sample technique. The section will conclude with a description of the setting.

### Population

The participants for the study were selected by using a convenience sampling method of undergraduate college students in central Virginia. A convenience sampling method was appropriate for the study to select participants accessible to the researcher in a short period of time (Edgar & Manz, 2017; Stratton, 2021). The population was residential students living on campus completing face-to-face courses in the Family and Consumer Sciences department. The university residential population was roughly 53% female and 47% male. The department population was approximately 98% female students and 2% male students. The programs assessed in this study had a higher enrollment of female students. The participants for this study were primarily female with an average of 1 male per class. The specific population for the study comprised freshmen, sophomore, junior, and senior status students enrolled in Family and Consumer Sciences residential interior design and family and child development courses. All students enrolled in the selected FACS courses were able to participate in the study regardless of their majors. The age of these students was 18-23 years old.

## **Participants**

The sample was derived from the university's residential Family and Consumer Sciences department. Within this department, six residential classes were selected from two majors: family and child development and interior design. Family and Consumer Sciences courses prepare students for a professional career that can contribute to the community, individuals, and families to improve their quality of life (Pucciarelli et al., 2016). The courses for this study were FACD 3000, FACD 3001, FACD 3002, FAID 3000, FAID 3001, and FAID 3002. FACD 3000, FACD 3001, and FAID 3002 were residential family and child development courses, while FAID 3000, FAID 3001, and FAID 3002 were residential interior design courses.

The sample size was 172 participants, which exceeds the required minimum of 144 for a MANOVA when assuming a medium effect size with statistical power of .7 and alpha level,  $\alpha$  = .05 (Gall et al., 2010, p. 145). The sample consisted of 7 males and 165 females. A total of 82 students completed family and child development courses: FACD 3000, FACD 3001, and FACD 3002. Of these students, 22 completed FACD 3000, 36 completed FACD 3001, and 24 completed FACD 3002. A total of 90 students completed interior design courses: FAID 3000, FAID 3001, and FAID 3002. Of these students, 28 completed FAID 3000, 21 students completed FAID 3001, 41 students completed FAID 3002.

## Setting

The Family and Consumer Sciences department is a residential program at a private, four-year university. The department offers several majors: interior design, family and child development, fashion design, fashion merchandising, event planning, and professional creative industries. Residential courses at the institution follow the traditional semester schedule and are 16-weeks long. The spring semester begins in January and ends in May. The professors teach face-to-face instruction. The students for this study were enrolled as residential students at the university.

## Groups

The groups were determined after evaluating the Family and Consumer Sciences family and child development and interior design course offerings and discussing the courses with the department head. The courses were solidified after the start of the spring semester when the class rosters were finalized. The intended groups were selected based on class size, instructional strategies, and variation of course content to adequately compare the cause-and-effect relationship between student engagement and achievement among the two groups. The groups were naturally occurring as participants were not recruited, and regularly met in class (Brown, 2015). The participants included were primarily upper-level Family and Consumer Sciences majors. Upper-level students are classified as juniors and seniors based on their degree level and number of semester hours completed at the university.

## Family and Child Development

The courses selected in the family and child development program were FACD 3000, FACD 3001, and FACD 3002. Student demographics of the students who completed FACD 3000 included 22 students; 20 were female and 2 were male. A sum of 14 students were declared family and child development majors within the Family and Consumer Sciences department, and 6 students were declared under another major. Student demographics of the students who completed FACD 3001 included 36 students; 35 were female and 1 was male. A sum of 28 students were declared family and child development majors within the Family and Consumer Sciences department, and 7 students were declared under another major. Student demographics of the students who completed FACD 3002 included 24 students; 24 were female and 0 were male. A sum of 14 students were declared family and child development majors within the Family and consumer Sciences department, and 10 students were declared under another major. *Interior Design* 

The courses selected in the interior design program were FAID 3000, FAID 3001, and FAID 3002. Student demographics of the students who completed FAID 3000 included 28 students; 26 were female and 2 were male. A sum of 25 students were declared interior design majors within the Family and Consumer Sciences department, and 3 students were declared under another major. Student demographics of the students who completed FAID 3001 included 21 students; 20 were female and 1 was male. A sum of 21 students were declared interior design majors within the Family and Consumer Sciences department, and 0 students were declared under another major. Student demographics of the students who completed FAID 3001 included 21 students; 20 were female and 1 was male. A sum of 21 students were declared interior design majors within the Family and Consumer Sciences department, and 0 students were declared under another major. Student demographics of the students who completed FAID 3002 included 41 students; 40 were female and 1 was male. A sum of 39 students were declared interior design majors within the Family and Consumer Sciences department, and 2 students were declared under another major.

#### Instrumentation

This causal-comparative design study used the Student Perception About Class Engagement Measure as an instrument to examine the cause-and-effect relationship between student mindset towards student engagement (student connection, pedagogical factors, classroom environment factors, and student motivation factors) (Haug et al., 2019).

#### **Student Perceptions About Class Engagement Measure**

The purpose of this instrument was to measure student perception of class engagement and its role in active learning (Haug et al., 2019). The Student Perceptions About Class Engagement Measure originated from researchers, James Haug, Linda Wright, and Allen Huckabee, assistant professors at Longwood University, who believed there was a correlation between student engagement and achievement (Haug et al., 2019). The developers sought to assess undergraduate business students' ideas about engagement that contribute to course achievement (Haug et al., 2019). The instrument is new and has only been used in one study by the developers (see Appendix F for the instrument).

Validity was established by comparing results of focus group responses with a 34statement questionnaire, pretested on a sample of students, then post-tested with a final survey, and cross-examined with other studies in a literature search (Haug et al., 2019). The focus groups and surveys sought to gauge students' feelings towards activity-based learning versus lecturebased learning, extrinsic and intrinsic motivation, faculty and peer interaction, technology-based learning, participation, and in-classroom interaction. After hosting the focus groups and surveys, Haug et al. (2019) organized the data into key survey factors that were distributed into four categories: pedagogy, classroom environment, and student motivation, and student connection (Haug et al., 2019). The participants used in the studies were traditional, residential undergraduate students completing face-to-face instruction. The students were adult learners ages 18 and older, which aligns with the purpose of the scale (Haug et al., 2019). The instrument proves reliability with a Cronbach Alpha Coefficient of .814 and statistical power greater than .7 (Haug et al., 2019).

The questionnaire contains 28 questions relevant to student engagement in the higher education classroom (Haug et al., 2019). The scale is categorized by four categories: student connection, pedagogical strategies, classroom environment strategies, and student motivation. Group one, student connection, includes questions about student connection within the classroom, with the instructor, with peers, and the course content. Group two, pedagogical strategies, includes questions about teaching strategies and course activities. Group three, classroom environment strategies, includes questions about the classroom environment. Group four, student motivation strategies, comprises questions pertaining to student cognitive and motivation perception about education and coursework (Haug et al., 2019). Each of the 28 questions is an item within the four subscales: student connection, pedagogical strategies, classroom environment strategies, and student motivation.

The Student Perceptions About Class Engagement Measure is a Psychometric 5-point Likert Scale Questionnaire that ranged from Strongly Agree to Strongly Disagree (Haug et al., 2019; Preedy & Watson, 2010). Responses were as follows: Strongly Agree = 5, Agree = 4, Neutral = 3, Disagree = 2, and Strongly Disagree = 1. The combined possible scores on the Student Perceptions About Class Engagement Measure ranged from 28 to 140 points. A score of 28 points is the lowest possible score meaning students selected strongly disagree for all 28 factors about student engagement. A score of overall 140 points is the highest score meaning students scored strongly agree for all 28 factors on the Likert scale.

The instrument was assessed electronically during scheduled class periods. The approximate time to complete the survey was roughly 15 minutes per student. A total of 20 minutes was allotted for the survey to be completed (See Appendix for instruction). The

instrument was scored by the researcher. Within each FACS class, the median, mean, and sum scores were calculated for each survey question.

### Numerical Grade Average

The numerical grade average of each student was assessed and used as an instrument to examine the cause-and-effect relationship between the survey results of the Student Perceptions About Class Engagement Measure. Instructors calculated the final numerical grades of students and hosted the data in the university's learning management system. The instructors of the FACD 3000, FACD 3001, FACD 3002, FAID 3000, FAID 3001, and FAID 3002 retrieved numerical grade score data after course completion in the spring of 2023. Numerical grades were based on a 1000-point grade scale. The highest score was 1000 and the lowest score was 0. Numerical scores and demographics were compiled by class section and name and gathered into an individual report.

#### **Procedures**

The researcher gained written consent from the publisher to use the Student Perceptions About Class Engagement Measure instrument (see Appendix B for permissions). Prior written consent to survey FACS students and retrieve final numerical grades from instructors for the spring 2023 semester was granted by the dean overseeing the Family and Consumer Sciences Department (see Appendix B for approvals). Succeeding, the researcher received Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval to survey FACD 3000, FACD 3001, FACD 3002, FAID 3000, FAID 3001, and FAID 3002 students and to retrieve numerical grade averages of students (see Appendix C for documentation). After receiving approvals, the researcher printed a hard copy version of the Student Perceptions About Class Engagement Measure questionnaire and distributed the survey to the FACS students. The survey was administered to students during a scheduled class time in the Spring of 2023 (Haug et al., 2019). The instructors provided demographic information to identify majors. After completion of the semester, numerical grade data was retrieved from the FACS instructors for each student enrolled in the courses. The FACS instructors matched the students' survey scores to their grade scores.

The researcher collected and reviewed the survey results and grade scores. Survey results were categorized by class and organized in Excel. The data was further arranged by student demographics: student sex, and major. Numerical scores were assigned according to the Likert 5-point scale, with (5) being strongly agree, (4) being agree, (3) neither disagree nor agree, (2) disagree, (1) strongly disagree (Preedy & Watson, 2010). Descriptive statistics were computed in Excel to calculate the median and mean scores for each category (Gall et al., 2010).

The participant information was protected throughout the data collection process. Data was stored on a password-protected computer and external hard drive. The survey results were only viewed by the researcher and FACS instructors. The data collection of numerical grades and student demographics remained confidential. Participant names were not stored on the computer or hard drive and were labeled in consecutive order with pseudonyms, such as student #1, student #2. Only the researcher had access to the records. At all stages of data collection, the participant information was protected. The devices used to store data, the computer and hard drive, were always locked in secure rooms when not in use. Data will be retained for five years after the completion of this research study.

#### **Data Analysis**

The research question explored if there was a difference among students enrolled in residential FACS family and child development courses versus interior design courses engagement scores, and numerical course average scores. To compare the differences between groups, a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was performed to examine the differences between the two groups on multiple dependent variables (Gall et al., 2010). A MANOVA was the best statistical analysis for this study as there were multiple continuous dependent variables, two or more independent groups, different participants in each group, and a sufficient sample size (Finch, 2016; Gall et al., 2010; Laerd, 2017).

Data screening included visual screening of the data set to check for missing data points and inaccuracies. Data screening was essential to ensure the distribution of data is normal and to eliminate distortion of central tendency (Gall et al., 2007; 2010). Box and whisker plots were used to check for extreme outliers for each group. Extreme outliers are individuals who have exceptionally low or high scores on a measure (Gall et al., 2007). Extreme outliers will be evaluated.

An Assumption of Normality testing, Shapiro-Wilks, was conducted. An Assumption of Multivariate Normal Distribution was performed to identify a linear relationship between each pair of dependent variables. The test for this assumption was achieved by plotting a scatterplot matrix for each group of the independent variables. An Assumption of Homogeneity of Variance-Covariance matrices was tested using Box's M tests of equality of covariance. The failure of this assumption required a Levene's test of homogeneity of variance to determine the problem. Furthermore, an Absence of Multicollinearity test was completed to determine if the dependent variables were moderately related. A correlation over .80 presents a concern for multicollinearity. The effect size was reported using a partial eta squared. The null hypothesis was rejected at the 95% confidence level. Since this is the first time the survey was used outside of the instrument developers, Cronbach alpha was tested and reported at .765 and statistical power greater than .7.

### **CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS**

#### **Overview**

A one-way MANOVA was performed to observe the cause-and-effect relationship between student engagement scores and achievement scores among both groups of FACS students. This chapter will discuss the descriptive statistics and results of the study. It will confer the testing of assumptions. Concluding, this chapter will discuss if the researcher can reject or accept the null hypothesis.

## **Research Question**

**RQ**: Is there a difference in residential FACS student engagement scores and numerical course average scores among those enrolled in family and child development courses versus interior design courses?

## **Hypothesis**

The null hypothesis for this study is:

H<sub>0</sub>: There is no difference in residential FACS student engagement scores and numerical course average scores among those enrolled in family and child development courses versus interior design courses.

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

Descriptive statistics were obtained on the dependent variables for each group of the independent variable. Descriptive statistics are found in Table 1 and showed mean scores on the survey were similar while numerical grade scores showed a 48-point difference.

# Table 1

	Group	М	SD	п
Survey	Family & Child	113.48	8.94	80
	Interior Design	112.57	10.61	87
	Total	113.01	9.83	167
Grades	Family & Child	872.76	72.17	80
	Interior Design	920.92	58.14	87
	Total	897.85	69.37	167

Dependent Variables: Engagements Scores & Numerical Grade Scores

## Results

# **Data Screening**

Data screening was conducted on each group's dependent variable, and data were scanned for entry errors and inconsistencies. No data errors or inconsistencies were identified. All data points were retained.

## Assumptions

According to Hotelling's  $T^2$  the following assumptions were tenable:

- linearity
- no multicollinearity
- no univariate or multivariate outliers
- multivariate normality
- homogeneity of variance-covariance matrices
- homogeneity of variances

## Assumption of Linearity

The assumption of linearity was tested using scatterplots for each group. The scatterplots show a linear relationship between the dependent variables in each group; therefore, the assumption of linearity was tenable (Laerd, 2017). Refer to Figure 1 below.

## Figure 1

Scatterplot Matrix: Participated Group



## Assumption of No Multicollinearity

Pearson correlation between the dependent variables were used to test this assumption. The dependent variables should show a slight correlation. The assumption is tenable if the correlation is moderate and less than .9 (Laerd, 2017). As seen in Table 2, the correlation between the two dependent variables is less than .9; therefore, the assumption of no multicollinearity was tenable, as assessed by Pearson correlation (r = .042, p = .590).

# Table 2

### Pearson Correlation

		Survey	Grades
Survey	Pearson Correlation	1	.042
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.590
	n	167	167
Grades	Pearson Correlation	.042	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.590	
	n	167	167

## Dependent variables

## Assumption of no Univariate or Multivariate Outliers

Box plots were used to detect extreme univariate outliers in each dependent variable (Laerd, 2017). There were two extreme outliers from the family and child development group (data points 5 and 9). The researcher converted the data points to a z-score. They exceeded the +3 and -3 standard deviations of the sample mean (Warner, 2013). Thus, the data points were removed from the data set. The box and whisker plots show the remaining sample in both groups. See Figure 2 and Figure 3 for box and whisker plots.
### Figure 2

### Box Plots: Family and Child Development Group





Box Plots: Interior Design Group



Mahalanobis distance was used to test the assumption of no multivariate outliers. To determine if a calculated Mahalanobis distance was a concern, the computed value was compared to a chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) distribution with degrees of freedom equal to 2, the number of dependent variables and an alpha level of .001 (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2014). The chi-square critical value is 13.82 (Laerd, 2017). The largest Mahalanobis distance was 11.71 which is less than 13.82. Therefore, the assumption of no multivariate outliers was tenable.

#### Assumption of Multivariate Normality

Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test for multivariate normality. Table 3 provides the results of all Shapiro-Wilk tests. The results of the engagement scores for the family and child group show p > .05 and p < .05 for interior design engagement scores. The assumption of normal distribution was not tenable. The grades did not meet this assumption for the family and child group and were less than p < .05 (Laerd, 2017). Since the data was not normally distributed, a Pearson Correlation was used to test for multicollinearity. There was no multicollinearity, as assessed by Pearson correlation (r = .042, p = .590). Hotelling's  $T^2$  is robust to deviations from normality (Bray & Maxwell, 1985; Laerd, 2017; Weinfurt, 1995). Figure 4 and Figure 5 for histograms show that the family and child development scores are lower than the interior design scores.

### Table 3

Shapiro-Wilk				
Groups				
		Statistic	df	Sig.
Family & Child	Survey	.982	80	.200
	Grades	.878	80	<.001
Interior Design	Survey	.096	87	.045
	Grades	.087	87	.113

Tests of Normality

# Figure 4

# Histograms: Interior Design Group



# Figure 5

# Histograms: Family and Child Development Group



### Assumption of Homogeneity of Variance Covariance Matrices

Box's M, also called the Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices, was used to test the assumption of equality of variance-covariance. There was homogeneity of variancecovariance matrices as assessed by Box's test of equality of covariance matrices (p = .104). The assumption of equality of variance-covariance was tenable since p > .001 (Laerd, 2017).

## Table 4

Box's	Test	of I	Equal	ity	of	Covar	iance	Matrices
-------	------	------	-------	-----	----	-------	-------	----------

Box's M	6.25
F	2.06
df 1	3
df 2	6333484.85
Sig.	.104

Tests the null hypothesis that the observed covariance matrices of the dependent variables are equal across groups. Design: Intercept + Group

### Assumption of Homogeneity of Variance

The assumption of homogeneity of variance was examined using the Levene's test. No violations were found where p = .28 for Grade scores and p = .15 for Survey scores. The assumption of homogeneity of variance was met as seen in Table 5 (Laerd, 2017).

		Levene Statistic	<i>df</i> 1	df 2	Sig
Grade	Based on Mean	1.18	1	165	.279
Scores	Based on Median	.483	1	165	.488
	Based on Median and with adjusted df	.483	1	141.25	.488
	Based on trimmed mean	.797	1	165	.373
Survey	Based on Mean	2.077	1	165	.151
	Based on Median	1.540	1	165	.216
	Based on Median and with adjusted df	1.540	1	154.16	.217
	Based on trimmed mean	2.030	1	165	.156

# Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variances

Tests the null hypothesis that the error variance of the dependent variable is equal across groups.

a. Design: Intercept + Group

# **Cronbach Alpha Coefficient**

A questionnaire was employed to measure students' perception of engagement. The

survey consisted of 28 questions. The scale had a high level of internal consistency, as

determined by a Cronbach's alpha of 0.765 as seen in Table 6 (DeVellis, 2003 & Kline, 2005).

Cronbach Alpha Coefficient

**Reliability Statistics** 

	Cronbach's Alpha	
	Based on	N of
Cronbach's Alpha	Standardized Items	Items
.765	.771	28

#### **Results for Null Hypothesis**

Hotelling's  $T^2$  was used to test the null hypothesis that there is no difference between residential FACS student engagement scores and numerical course average scores. The differences between the groups on the combined dependent variables were statistically significant and the null hypothesis was rejected at a 95% confidence level where F(2, 164) =11.68, p < .01; Wilks'  $\Lambda = .88$ ; partial  $\eta^2 = .125$  as seen in Table 7. Follow up univariate ANOVAs showed that grade scores F(1, 165) = (22.713), p < .001:  $\eta^2 = .121$  were statistically significant between the groups but survey scores F(1, 165) = (.348), p = .556:  $\eta^2 = .002$  were not statistically significant between the groups as seen in Tables 8.

Effect		Value	F	df	Error df	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.997	25052.44	2.000	164.00	<.001	.997
	Wilks' Lambda	.003	25052.44	2.000	164.00	<.001	.997
	Hotelling's Trace	305.52	25052.44	2.000	164.00	<.001	.997
	Roy's Largest	305.52	25052.44	2.000	164.00	<.001	.997
	Root						
Group	Pillai's Trace	.125	11.68	2.000	164.00	<.001	.125
	Wilks' Lambda	.88	11.68	2.000	164.00	<.001	.125
	Hotelling's Trace	.142	11.68	2.000	164.00	<.001	.125
	Roy's Largest	.142	11.68	2.000	164.00	<.001	.125
	Root						

a. Design: Intercept + Group

b. Exact statistic

#### Type III Partial Dependent Mean Source Sum of F df Sig. Eta Variable Square Squares Squared Corrected 33.780<sup>a</sup> 33.78 0.348 0.556 0.002 Survey 1 Model 96660.638<sup>b</sup> Grades 1 96660.638 22.713 <.001 0.121 2129612.99 2129612.99 0.993 Intercept Survey 1 21965.46 <.001 Grades 134086387 1 134086387 31506.93 <.001 0.995 Group Survey 33.78 1 33.78 0.348 0.556 0.002 Grades 96660.638 1 96660.638 22.713 <.001 0.121 Error Survey 15997.214 165 96.953 Grades 702202.859 165 4255.775 Survey Total 2148680 167 Grades 135423758 167 Corrected Survey 16030.994 166 Total Grades 798863.498 166

### **Tests of Between-Subjects Effects**

a. R Squared = .002 (Adjusted R Squared = -.004)

b. R Squared = .121 (Adjusted R Squared = .116)

#### **CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS**

#### **Overview**

This study examined the causal-comparative relationship between engagement scores and numerical course scores between interior design and family and child development students. A conclusion of the study will be discussed. Suggestions for future research are included, which consider different populations, testing instrumentation, theoretical constructs, and limitations. The recommendations for future research will further increase knowledge in the field of study.

#### Discussion

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the causal-comparative relationship between student engagement and numerical grades between residential Family and Consumer Sciences courses. The sample population consisted of 172 Family and Consumer Sciences interior design and family and child development students. The researcher surveyed six classes: three family and child development classes and three interior design classes. Students answered a 28-question survey about their perception of engagement and its impact on their academic achievement. The researcher organized the data to calculate overall engagement scores, median, and mean scores. A one-way multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) test was performed to compare the cause-and-effect relationship between student grade scores and engagement scores among the two groups of residential Family and Consumer Sciences students. The research question investigated if there was a difference among students enrolled in residential FACS family and child development courses versus interior design courses engagement scores, and numerical course average scores.

#### **Null Hypothesis**

81

The null hypothesis for this study was that there is no difference in residential FACS student engagement scores and numerical course average scores among those enrolled in family and child development courses versus interior design courses. The findings revealed there was a significant difference between the two groups (F(2, 164) = 11.68, p < .01; Wilks'  $\Lambda = .88$ ; partial  $\eta^2 = .125$ ). The hypothesis was rejected because there was a significant difference between the two groups.

Upon reviewing the survey results, interior design and family and child development students believed that engagement is an important factor in their overall satisfaction with classroom work. There was a statistically significant difference (F(1, 165) = (22.713), p < .001:  $\eta^2 = .121$ ) between interior design grades (M = 920.92, SD = 58.14) and family and child development grades (M = 872.76, SD = 72.17). However, there was not a statistically significant difference (F(1, 165) = (.348), p = .556:  $\eta^2 = .002$ ) between the family and child development engagement scores (M = 113.48, SD = 8.94) compared to interior design engagement scores (M = 112.57, SD = 10.61). Since the univariate ANOVA for engagement scores was not statistically significant, a post hoc power analysis was conducted which found that the power was .99. This finding supports that though the null hypothesis could be rejected, individual engagement scores were not statistically significant. There was, however, sufficient power to support these overall findings. When comparing these results to current research, students perceive that instructor presence in residential learning is valuable. It is the responsibility of the instructor to create an engaging learning environment (Martin & Bolliger, 2018; Sriram et al., 2020). Results show that students value engagement and believe it is significant to their learning (Chiu, 2022; Feroz et al., 2022; Lai, 2021; Naibert et al., 2022; Sara et al., 2022; van Braak et al., 2021; Zhoc et al., 2019).

Literature explains that behavioral, social, and cognitive engagement are the primary constituents of engagement in higher education (Bowden et al., 2021; Groccia, 2018; Haug et al., 2019; Havik & Westergard, 2020). Students' attitudes towards education, their behaviors and motivation influence learning. There is a correlation between student engagement and course achievement (Hodges, 2020; Kahu & Nelson, 2018). Student engagement is directly related to earning higher grades, learner-learner interaction, and learner-instructor interaction (Brown et al., 2022; Kobicheva, 2022; Lee, 2014; Peiser et al., 2022; Tight, 2020). Higher "levels" of student engagement in the classroom impacts student retention and increases long-term success. The study supports that student engagement is influential to student achievement, retention, and long-term attainment (Hodges, 2020; Kahu & Nelson, 2018).

The study supports the engagement theory. According to the theory, students should relate with peers, the course content, and the instructor (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Smallwood & Brunner, 2017). There should be discussion between students to share ideas (Carpenter et al., 2022; Gray et al., 2016; Hew et al., 2018; Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Payne, 2016). Educators should create meaningful learning experiences for students to apply their work to a greater purpose (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998). The theory claims engagement should integrate active learning through instructional pedagogies, which contributes to student grades and achievement (Kearsley & Shneiderman, 1998; Payne, 2016).

Even though the interior design and family and child development groups had similar engagement scores, the interior design students scored higher numerical grades in comparison to the family and child development students. As mentioned in the literature, interior design programs are project-based, while family and child development programs are mostly lecture based with some experiential learning (AAFCS, n.d.; Mosenson & Fox, 2011; Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021). Family and child development students are assigned more exams and papers that contribute to their overall final grade score. Interior design students complete summative projects throughout the semester, which contribute considerably to their final grade score. The results from this study indicated that students share common perceptions of student engagement, but the types of assessments in a course and their point distribution, affect achievement scores.

#### Implications

Student engagement increases and sustains retention rates, improves academic achievement, and student satisfaction (Aparicio et al., 2021; Bowden et al., 2021; Pulay & Tibbitts, 2022; Snijders et al., 2022; Sujet, 2022; Tanaka, 2019). The Perceptions of Student Engagement survey assesses students' feelings and emotions that correlate with student success in higher education courses (Haug et al., 2019). Research shows that academic achievement associates with cognitive, behavioral, and social engagement within residential FACS programs (Fredricks et al., 2004; Groccia, 2018; Havik & Westergard, 2020; Lee, 2014). FACS programs have experienced an 11% decrease in enrollment and retention over the last two decades (Bowers & Myers, 2019; Dainty et al., 2011; Davis & Alexander, 2009; Mosenson & Fox, 2011; Rolling & Johnson, 2002). This study sought to observe the cause-and-effect relationship between the perception of student engagement and course achievement in two groups of residential FACS courses, which may influence retention and program growth within FACS higher education.

The implications of the study showed students' perception of engagement does not impact their course grades alone. Students can have high perceptions of engagement and earn low numerical scores. They must be motivated and willing to complete work and participate in class. Based on the results, pedagogical strategies influence achievement scores. Integrating project-based learning methods produces higher numerical scores, as seen by the interior design group. FACS instructors should integrate more hands-on and project-based learning instruction to produce higher numerical grade scores. Another question to consider is whether the classroom environment and lectures between the two groups were more engaging and interactive.

The study adds to the existing body of knowledge by addressing the gap in literature. Literature examines student engagement in online and blended instructional modalities. It discusses behavioral, cognitive, and social engagement. It does not address engagement and achievement in residential, face-to-face learning, specifically in the form of numerical grades in higher education FACS courses (Hurtado et al., 2019; Kahu & Nelson, 2018). The study found no statistically significant difference between engagement scores but a statistically significant difference between achievement scores between the two groups. The results denoted that engagement factors can improve course grades and long-term achievement in residential courses (Dainty et al., 2011; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021).

The findings of this study will result in positive changes in the design and delivery of residential higher education. Studies have focused on engagement in the online classroom to improve achievement (Bolliger & Martin, 2018; Cole et al., 2021; Farrell & Brunton, 2020; Hew et al., 2018). Residential, face-to-face instruction incorporates factors that are not applicable to online learning, such as the tone of the instructor and length of lectures times (Haug et al., 2019). Results emphasized that both factors, tone and lecture times, influence student engagement and achievement in residential learning. The results of this study should encourage institutions to offer professional development opportunities to train instructors on how to create and deliver engaging courses and assignments to improve course grades, student satisfaction, and retention

rates in residential learning and within Family and Consumer Sciences programs (Clynes et al., 2020).

The mission of Family and Consumer Sciences is to provide experiential learning, develop the individual well-being, strengthen the family unit, create professionals, and make contributions to the community (AAFCS, n.d.; McGregor, 2020; Nickols et al., 2009; White & White, 2018). There has been an 11% decline over the last two decades in Family and Consumer Sciences education and enrollment rates, hindering this mission (Bowers & Myers, 2019; Wilmarth & Milstead, 202). Educators have pursued to improve engagement, and achievement rates in FACS education with the hopes to retain enrollment, and program longevity (Dainty et al., 2011; Wilmarth & Milstead, 2021). The results disclosed FACS students perceive engagement as important and that hands-on learning can improve classroom engagement strategies and course instruction, which may increase final numerical grade scores, and allow rising professionals in these industries to impact society at large.

#### Limitations

The researcher identified limitations when examining the cause-and-effect relationship between student engagement scores and their numerical course grades between groups of family and child development and interior design courses. The limitations were organized in terms of threats to both internal and external validity. The study was a causal-comparative design, which cannot confirm results like an experimental design. The design made claims about a relationship between the variables (Gall et al., 2010). The causal-comparative design only compared the cause-and-effect relationships between the family and child and interior design groups (Lehmann & Mehrens, 1979; Lenell & Boissoneau, 1996). Sample size was a limitation that affected internal and external reliability. The researcher exceeded the required minimum sample size for a MANOVA and surveyed a total of 172 students: 90 students from the interior design group and 82 students from the family and child development group. A total of 7 students were eliminated from the study due to earning an FN (failure to non-complete), I (incomplete) or a W (withdraw) in the course, totaling to a final sample size of 165. In addition, two extreme outliers were removed from the study, data points 5 and 9 of the family and child development group. There were 23 out of 82 students in the family and child development group who were declared as another major; whereas there were only 5 out of 90 students in the interior design group who were declared as another major. The students declared as another major may have lacked interest in the course topics, which could have affected their engagement and final numerical scores, especially in the family and child development group.

Although the researcher collected a sufficient sample size, the Family and Consumer Sciences department has over 500 students. The six classes surveyed were selected to avoid conflict of interest, as the researcher is a professor within the department overseeing two programs. Data collection was narrowed to two of the largest programs outside the researchers: interior design and family and child development. A total of 172 students were sampled. If there was a larger sample, it would have helped with the generalizability of this study.

An internal validity limitation was the timeframe of survey data collection. Participants were surveyed within the first eight weeks of the Spring 2023 semester. The views of student engagement in the classroom could change from the first eight weeks to the last eight weeks of the semester. Students may have different views of engagement nearing the completion of the course, which could alter data results. The program's residential courses tend to have a higher attendance rate in the first half of the semester, which was the primary reason for collecting data in the first eight weeks of courses.

The survey was conducted in-person during scheduled class times, which may have resulted in participants feeling obligated to participate. An additional internal threat was the researcher being a professor within the FACS department. Some of the students were familiar with the professor outside of research. The students were also aware that the researcher was a colleague with their FACS professors. Even though the survey answers were anonymous to the researcher, the students may have been concerned their answers would be shared, affecting their honesty and validity of the survey results.

A significant external threat to validity was surveying groups of students within two programs at a single private university. The research was limited to a narrow sample size and timeframe. The selected residential FACS program comprises of six programs total during one academic semester. Only two were analyzed. The population included upper classmen and lower classmen students, FACS and non-FACS majors to reach a larger number of residential students. There was a lack of diversity among the participants. Of the 172 students surveyed between the two groups, only 7 students were male. The large ratio of females presented generalizability concerns due to the sample demographics and selection bias. The survey has only been used once prior to this study, which can be considered as an external threat to validity and threat to reliability. It has undergone proper validity and reliability testing and has a Cronbach's alpha of .823. This study had a high level of internal consistency, as determined by a Cronbach's alpha of .765 (DeVellis, 2003 & Kline, 2005). Both were considered a high level of internal consistency. Since this was the first time using the instrument outside the developers, additional research should be conducted using the instrument to show consistent reliability.

#### **Recommendations for Future Research**

This research compared the cause-and-effect relationship between numerical course grades and student perception of engagement scores. The following research recommendations are provided to further examine student engagement and its effect on student achievement in residential higher education and within Family and Consumer Sciences.

- The study only evaluated two groups of students, family and child development and interior design, in two programs within Family and Consumer Sciences. It would be beneficial to repeat the study to include other programs, such as fashion design and merchandising, event planning, and creative industries, and to include diverse student demographics.
- 2. It would be advantageous to compare numerical grade scores and engagement scores between multiple Family and Consumer Sciences programs at several universities. It would provide a more comprehensive examination of the cause-effect relationship between engagement and achievement and its relation to program retainment.
- 3. A qualitative study would help researchers understand students' perceptions of engagement and explain the reasoning for selecting the survey answers.
- 4. The researcher suggests an additional study focusing on the constructs of instructional design and the impact of faculty instruction on student engagement and achievement in residential learning.
- The study focused on a comparison between engagement and achievement within FACS programs. A repeat study could be conducted between groups of residential courses outside of FACS.

- 6. The researcher suggests surveying groups of students at the beginning and end of a semester to compare perceptions of student engagement and their achievement at two intervals. Assessing data at two intervals could result in varying results based on student emotions, and feelings towards education at different points of the semester.
- Likewise, a study surveying two groups of students over two semesters would provide a broader perspective of engagement and achievement. The researcher could compare results and perceptions of engagement between these two groups.
- The study could be replicated to examine student engagement and achievement in secondary education, which could improve retention and enrollment in high school FACS programs.
- 9. A replicated study should be conducted with the purpose of analyzing the validity and reliability of the instrument's subcategories: student connection factors, pedagogical factors, classroom environment factors, and student motivation factors. While the comprehensive survey meets validity and reliability requirements, further research could benefit by analyzing student data on both overall engagement scores and these subsets of engagement scores.

#### REFERENCES

AAFCS. (n.d.). What is FCS? https://www.aafcs.org/about/about-us/what-is-fcs

Ali, S. S. (2019). Problem based learning: A student-centered approach. *English Language Teaching*, *12*(5), 73-78. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v12n5p73

Almasi, M., & Zhu, C. (2020). Investigating students' perceptions of cognitive presence in relation to learner performance in blended learning courses: A mixed-methods approach. *Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 18(4), 324-336.

https://doi.org/10.34190/EJEL.20.18.4.005

- Aparicio, G., Iturralde, T., & Maseda, A. (2021). A holistic bibliometric overview of the student engagement research field. *Journal of further and Higher Education*, 45(4), 540-557. https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2020.1795092
- Archambault, I., Janosz, M., Fallu, J. S., & Pagani, L. S. (2009). Student engagement and its relationship with early high school dropout. *Journal of Adolescence*, 32(3), 651-670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2008.06.007
- Arslan, A. R., & Dazkir, S. (2017). Technical drafting and mental visualization in interior architecture education. *International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.20429/ijsotl.2017.110215
- Asif, M., Thomas, G., Awan, M. U., & Muhammad Din, A. (2021). Enhancing student engagement through heterogeneous pedagogical approaches: Action research in a university-level course in saudi arabia. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 35(1), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-10-2019-0375
- Astin, A. W. (1999). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. *Journal of College Student Development, 40*(5), 518.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/220017441\_Student\_Involvement\_A\_Developme nt\_Theory\_for\_Higher\_Education

- Axelson, R. D., & Flick, A. (2010). Defining student engagement. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 43(1), 38-43. https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2011.533096
- Bacon, D. R. (2016). Reporting actual and perceived student learning in education research. *Journal of Marketing Education*, *38*(1), 3–6. https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475316636732
- Badiozaman, A., Fatimawati, B. I., Leong, H., & Jikus, O. (2020). Investigating student engagement in malaysian higher education: A self-determination theory approach. *Journal of further and Higher Education, 44*(10), 1364-1378. https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2019.1688266
- Baer, P. E., & Bandura, A. (1963). Behavior theory and identificatory learning. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 33(4), 591-601. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.1963.tb01007.x
- Bandura, A. (1974). Behavior theory and the models of man. *American Psychologist*, 29(12), 859–869. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0037514
- Barlow, A., Brown, S., Lutz, B., Pitterson, N., Hunsu, N., & Adesope, O. (2020). Development of the student course cognitive engagement instrument (SCCEI) for college engineering courses. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-020-00220-9
- Beck, L., & Wright, A. (2019). iGen: What you should know about post-millennial students. *College and University*, 94(1), 21-26. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1206220
- Ben-Eliyahu, A., Moore, D., Dorph, R., & Schunn, C. D. (2018). Investigating the multidimensionality of engagement: Affective, behavioral, and cognitive engagement

across science activities and contexts. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 53, 87-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2018.01.002

- Betz-Hamilton, A. (2021). Student perceptions of learning experiences during the
  COVID-19 pandemic: An examination of post-secondary hybrid, in-person, and online
  consumer affairs courses. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences Education*, 38(1), 13-23.
- Bonacquisti, A., & McElwaine, P. (2019). An experiential approach to teaching counseling skills: Instructional modules for undergraduate and graduate students in psychology. *Society for the Teaching of Psychology*, 1-32.

https://www.teachpsych.org/resources/Documents/otrp/resources/STP%20Teaching%20 Resource%20-%20Counseling%20Skills%20-%20Final.pdf

- Bond, M., & Bedenlier, S. (2019). Facilitating student engagement through educational technology: Towards a conceptual framework. *Journal of Interactive Media in Education*, 2019(1). https://doi.org/10.5334/jime.528
- Bowden, J. L. H., Tickle, L., & Naumann, K. (2021). The four pillars of tertiary student engagement and success: a holistic measurement approach. *Studies in Higher Education*, 46(6), 1207-1224. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1672647
- Bowden, J. L. (2022). Analogues of engagement: Assessing tertiary student engagement in contemporary face-to-face and blended learning contexts. *Higher Education Research and Development*, 41(4), 997-1012. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2021.1901666
- Bowers, J., & Myers, L. A. (2019). A national collaborative approach to recruit, prepare, and support family and consumer sciences educators: A national collaborative approach.

Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal, 48(2), 131-137.

https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12339

Bray, J. H., & Maxwell, S. E. (1985). *Multivariate analysis of variance*. Sage.

- Bridgewater. (2022). Explore the diversity of families and human development. https://www.bridgewater.edu/academics/divisions/health-human-sciences/family-andconsumer-sciences-major/
- Briggs, C., Quincey, E., Kyriacou, T., & Waller, R. (2019). Student centred design of a learning analytics system. Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Learning Analytics
  & Knowledge, 353-362. https://doi.org/10.1145/3303772.3303793
- Brown, A., Lawrence, J., Basson, M., Axelsen, M., Redmond, P., Turner, J., Maloney, S., & Galligan, L. (2022). The creation of a nudging protocol to support online student engagement in higher education. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 146978742110390. https://doi.org/10.1177/14697874211039077
- Brown, S. (2015). Using focus groups in naturally occurring settings. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *15*(1), 86-97. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-11-2013-0068
- Buttah, T. M., Xiaduan, C., Ullah, H., & Javed, S. (2019). Analysis of curriculum development stages from the perspective of tyler, taba and wheeler. *European Journal of Social Sciences*. 58(1), 14-22. http://www.europeanjournalofsocialsciences.com/

Cappella, E., Kim, H. Y., Neal, J. W., & Jackson, D. R. (2013). Classroom peer relationships and behavioral engagement in elementary school: The role of social network equity.
 *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 52(3-4), 367-379.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-013-9603-5

- Carpenter, R. E., Silberman, D., & Takemoto, J. K. (2022). The student engagement effect of team-based learning on student pharmacists. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 86(5), 8567-8567. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe8567
- Caruth, G. D. (2018). Student engagement, retention, and motivation: Assessing academic success in today's college students. *Participatory Educational Research*, 5(1), 17-30. https://doi.org/10.17275/per.18.4.5.1
- Chen, C. H., & Yang, Y. C. (2019). Revisiting the effects of project-based learning on students' academic achievement: A meta-analysis investigating moderators. *Educational Research Review*, 26, 71–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2018.11.001
- Chiu, T. K. F. (2022). Applying the self-determination theory (SDT) to explain student engagement in online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 54(1), 14-30. https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2021.1891998
- Choi, J., Lee, J. H., & Kim, B. (2019). How does learner-centered education affect teacher selfefficacy? The case of project-based learning in Korea. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 85, 45–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.05.005
- Cho, S. H., Taylor, S., Taylor, M., Giffen, R., Rock, C., & Reiboldt, W. (2021). Adapting to the changing needs of family and consumer sciences students: Instructor perspectives during the pandemic. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, *113*(3), 8-17. https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS113.3.8
- Choo, J., Bakir, N., Scagnoli, N. I., Ju, B., & Tong, X. (2020). Using the community of inquiry framework to understand students' learning experience in online undergraduate business courses. *Techtrends*, 64(1), 172-181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-019-00444-9

Cleveland-Innes, M. (2019). The community of inquiry theoretical framework. Routledge.

- Clynes, M., Sheridan, A., & Frazer, K. (2020). Student engagement in higher education: A crosssectional study of nursing students' participation in college-based education in the republic of Ireland. *Nurse Education Today*, 93, 104529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104529
- Cole, A. W., Lennon, L., & Weber, N. L. (2021). Student perceptions of online active learning practices and online learning climate predict online course engagement. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 29(5), 866-880. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1619593
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Curtis, R. (2021). Reimagining higher education: The post-COVID classroom. *Educausereview*. https://er.educause.edu/articles/2021/4/reimagining-higher-education-the-post-covidclassroom
- Dainty, J. D., Sandford, B. A., Su, S. H., & Belcher, G. G. (2011). Factors influencing the retention of secondary family and consumer sciences teachers. *Journal of Career and Technical Education*, 26(2), 42-56. https://doi.org/10.21061/jcte.v26i2.524
- Davis, K., & Alexander, K. L. (2009). A focused research agenda for family and consumer sciences. *Journal of Family & Consumer Sciences*, 27(2). 30-44. http://www.natefacs.org/Pages/v27no2/v27no2Davis.pdf
- Deaton, S., Carter, V., & Daugherty, M. K. (2018). Getting back to the roots of family and consumer sciences education: FCS and STEM integration. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 110(1), 55-58. https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS110.1.55
- DeVellis, R. F. (2003). *Scale development: Theory and applications* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.

- Duchovicova, J., Sabo, A., Petrova, G., & Hosova, D. (2018). Stimulation of creativity as a prerequisite of permanent sustainability form personality development of gifted learners. *Ad Alta Journal of Interdisciplinary Research*, 8(2), 54–60.
- Duncan, J. (2018). FCS at the Center of CTE: A Proposition for FCS Educators and Stakeholders. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 110(3), 10-18. https://doi.org/10.14307/jfcs110.3.10
- Dunn, T. J., & Kennedy, M. (2019). Technology enhanced learning in higher education; Motivations, engagement and academic achievement. *Computers and Education*, 137, 104-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.04.004
- Durr, T., Graves, N. A., & Wilson, A. (2021). A comparison of burnout experienced by family and consumer sciences teachers with other content teachers during COVID- 19 remote teaching. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 113(3), 27-35. https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS113.3.27
- Edgar, T. W., & Manz, D. O. (2017). Research methods in cybersecurity. Elsevier Inc.
- English Standard Bible. (2016). Crossway Bibles. (Original work published 2001)
- Eun, B. (2019). Adopting a stance: Bandura and Vygotsky on professional development. *Research in Education (Manchester), 105*(1), 74-88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0034523718793431
- Fathallah, R. (2021). Pedagogies for democratic participation in design studios: Towards more inclusive group work among interior design students. *The International Journal of Art & Design Education*, 40(4), 736-747. https://doi.org/10.1111/jade.12385

Farrell, O., & Brunton, J. (2020). A balancing act: A window into online student engagement experiences. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 17(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-020-00199-x

- Feroz, H. M. B., Zulfiqar, S., Noor, S., & Huo, C. (2022). Examining multiple engagements and their impact on students' knowledge acquisition: the moderating role of information overload. *Journal of Applied Research in Higher Education*, 14(1), 366-393. https://doi.org/10.1108/JARHE-11-2020-0422/full/html
- Fengyan, T., Iris, C., & Xinqi, D. (2017). The relationship of social engagement and social support with sense of community. *The Journals of Gerontology*, (72)1, 102–107. https://doi-org/10.1093/gerona/glw187
- Ferree, L., Román-Muñiz, N., Edwards-Callaway, L., Buchan, T., Todd, J., & Cramer, C. (2022). Assessing the effect of case-based teaching compared with lecture-based teaching on students' knowledge and perceptions in a senior undergraduate dairy cattle management course. *Translational Animal Science*, 6(2), txac033-txac033. https://doi.org/10.1093/tas/txac033

Finch, H. W. (2016). Comparison of multivariate means across groups with ordinal dependent variables: A monte carlo simulation study. *Educational Psychology*, 26, 1-11.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fams.2016.00002

Firebaugh, F. M., Nickols, S. Y., Atiles, J. H., & Turkki, K. (2010). Sustaining FCS in higher education: A 2010 perspective. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 102(4), 17. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ948353

- Fisher, R., Perenyi, A., & Birdthistle, N. (2021). The positive relationship between flipped and blended learning and student engagement, performance and satisfaction. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 22(2), 97-113. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469787418801702
- Franck, K. L., & Reeves, K. (2021). Capitalizing on lessons learned from COVID-19: The potential to expand programming and audiences for extension family and consumer sciences. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, *113*(4), 39-42. https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS113.4.39
- Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement: Potential of the concept, state of the evidence. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(1), 59-109. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543074001059
- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007; 2010). Applying educational research. Pearson.
- Gallegos, C., Gehrke, P., & Nakashima, H. (2019). Can mobile devices be used as an active learning strategy? student perceptions of mobile device use in a nursing course. *Nurse Educator*, 44(5), 270-274. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNE.000000000000613
- Giani, M. S., Attewell, P., & Walling, D. (2020). The value of an incomplete degree:
  Heterogeneity in the labor market benefits of college non-completion. *The Journal of Higher Education (Columbus)*, 91(4), 514-539.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2019.1653122
- Gray, K. E.; Webb, D. C., & Otera, V. K. (2016). Effects of learning assistant model on teacher practice. Physical Review. *Physicas Education Research*, 12(2), https://doi.org/10.1103/Physics Education Research
- Greener, S. (2022). The tensions of student engagement with technology. *Interactive Learning Environments*, *30*(3), 397-399. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2022.2048550

Greenier, V. T. (2020). The 10Cs of project-based learning TESOL curriculum. Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching, 14(1), 27-36. https://doi.org/10.1080/17501229.2018.1473405

Groccia, J. E. (2018). What is student engagement? *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*, 2018(154), 11-20. https://doi.org/10.1002/tl.20287

Ghufron, M. A., & Ermawati, S. (2018). The strengths and weaknesses of cooperative learning and problem-based learning in EFL writing class: Teachers and students' perspectives. *International Journal of Instruction*, 11(4), 657–672.
https://doi.org/10.12973/iji.2018.11441a

- Gillen-O'Neel, C. (2021). Sense of belonging and student engagement: A daily study of firstand continuing-generation college students. *Research in Higher Education*, 62(1), 45-71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-019-09570-y
- Guggemos, J., & Seufert, S. (2021). Teaching with and teaching about technology evidence for professional development of in-service teachers. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 115, 106613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106613
- Guppy, N., Verpoorten, D., Boud, D., Lin, L., Tai, J., & Bartolic, S. (2022). The post-COVID-19 future of digital learning in higher education: Views from educators, students, and other professionals in six countries. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13212
- Haapaniemi, J., Venäläinen, S., Malin, A., & Palojoki, P. (2019). Home economics education:
  Exploring integrative learning. *Educational Research*, *61*(1), 87-104.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2018.1564626

Haug, J. C., Wright, L. B., & Huckabee, W. A. (2019).

Undergraduate business students' perceptions about engagement. *Journal of Education for Business*, 94(2), 81-91. https://doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2018.1504738

- Havik, T., & Westergard, E. (2020). Do teachers matter? Students' perceptions of classroom interactions and student engagement. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 64(4), 488-507. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2019.1577754
- Heilporn, G., & Lakhal, S. (2020). Investigating the reliability and validity of the community of inquiry framework: An analysis of categories within each presence. *Computers and Education*, 145, 103712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103712
- Hew, K. F., Qiao, C., & Tang, Y. (2018). Understanding student engagement in large-scale open online courses: A machine learning facilitated analysis of Student's reflections in 18 highly rated MOOCs. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v19i3.3596
- Hodges, L. C. (2020). Student Engagement in Active Learning Classes. Springer.
- Hollowell, G. P., Brooks, R. M., & Anderson, Y. B. (2017). Course design, quality matters training, and student outcomes. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 31(3), 207-216. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2017.1301144f
- Hrastinski, S. (2019). What do we mean by blended learning? *TechTrends*, *63*(5), 564-569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-019-00375-5
- Hudakova, J., & Papcunova, V. (2019). Project training company in Slovak Republik. 4th International Conference on Education Science and Development, 21–34. https://doi.org/10.12783/dtssehs/icesd2019/28063
- Huang, B., Hew, K. F., & Lo, C. K. (2019). Investigating the effects of gamification-enhanced flipped learning on undergraduate students' behavioral and cognitive engagement.

Interactive Learning Environments, 27(8), 1106-1126.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2018.1495653

- Hunt, S. K. (2003). Encouraging student involvement: An approach to teaching communication. *Communication Studies*, *54*(2), 133-136. https://doi.org/10.1080/10510970309363275
- Hurtado, S. S., Gonyea, R. M., Graham, P. A., & Fosnacht, K. (2019). The relationship between residential learning communities and student engagement. *Learning Communities Research and Practice*, 8(1),

https://washingtoncenter.evergreen.edu/lcrpjournal/vol8/iss1/5

- Hussain, M., Zhu, W., Zhang, W., & Abidi, S. M. R. (2018). Student engagement predictions in an e-learning system and their impact on student course assessment scores. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2018, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6347186
- Jia, Q., Meng, W., Guo, M., & Zhang, Q. (2021). "Study on student engagement in the context of popularization of higher education. 2nd International Conference on Information Science and Education (ICISE-IE). 149-152, https://doi.org/10.1109/ICISE-IE53922.2021.00041
- Johnson, D. B., & Sveen, L. W. (2020). Three key values of generation Z: Equitably serving the next generation of students. *College and University*, 95(1), 37-40. http://ezproxy.liberty.edu/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com%2Fscholarlyjournals%2Fthree-key-values-generation-z-equitablyserving%2Fdocview%2F2369316081%2Fse-2%3Faccountid%3D12085
- Kahu, E. R., & Nelson, K. (2018). Student engagement in the educational interface:
  Understanding the mechanisms of student success. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 37(1): 58–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2017.1344197

- Kearsley, G., & Shneiderman, B. (1998). Engagement theory: A framework for technologybased teaching and learning. *Educational Technology*, 38(5), 20–23. https://www.jstor.org/stable/44428478
- Kelly, O., Hall, T., & Connolly, C. (2022). PACE-IT: Designing blended learning for accounting education in the challenging context of a global pandemic. *Accounting Education*, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639284.2022.2090851
- Klamen, D., Suh, B., & Tischkau, S. (2022). Problem-Based Learning. Springer.
- Kline, R. B. (2005). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling* (2nd ed.). Guildford.
- Kobicheva, A. (2022). Comparative Study on Students' Engagement and Academic Outcomes in Live Online Learning at University. *Education Sciences*, 12(6), 371.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12060371
- Koff, J. P. (2021). Utilizing teaching technologies for higher education in a post-COVID-19 environment. *Natural Sciences Education*, *50*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1002/nse2.20032
- Knudson, D. (2020). A tale of two instructional experiences: Student engagement in active learning and emergency remote learning of biomechanics. *Sports Biomechanics*, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1080/14763141.2020.1810306
- Lai, H. M. (2021). Understanding what determines university students' behavioral engagement in a group-based flipped learning context. *Computers and Education*, 173, 104290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104290
- Lai, Y., & Wu, P. (2019). The effects of students' perceived teachers' autonomy support, teachers' psychological control, self-determination motivation, academic emotions on

learning engagement of elementary school students: Taking math as example. *Jiao Yu Yu Xin Li Yan Jiu*, *42*(4), 33-63. https://doi.org/10.3966/102498852019124204002

- Laerd Statistics (2017). Hotelling's T2 using SPSS Statistics. *Statistical tutorials and software guides*. https://statistics.laerd.com/
- Laerd Statistics. (n.d.). One-way MANOVA in SPSS Statistics. https://statistics.laerd.com/spsstutorials/one-way-manova-using-spss-statistics.php
- Lane, S., Hoang, J. G., Leighton, J. P., & Rissanen, A. (2021). Engagement and satisfaction: Mixed-method analysis of blended learning in the Sciences. *Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education, 21*(1), 100-122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42330-021-00139-5
- Langlais, M. R. (2018). Experiential learning in family life education methodology: Low,
  medium, and high dosage projects. *The Journal of Experiential Education*, 41(4), 382-396. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053825918794219
- Laniton, S. R., Corpuz, O. S., & Lumapenet, H. T. (2022). Teachers' instructional competence and learners' school engagement. *Mazedan International Journal of Social Science and Humanities*, 3(1), 68-72.
- Laura, M. P. (2020). Home economics, "handicapped homemakers," and postwar America. *History of Education Quarterly*, *60*(3), 380-406. https://doi.org/10.1017/heq.2020.37
- Lavercombe, M. (2022). Changes to clinical education during the COVID-19 pandemic: Challenges and opportunities. *Respirology (Carlton, Vic.)*, 27(2), 112-113. https://doi.org/10.1111/resp.14201
- Lawrence, J., Brown, A., Redmond, P., Maloney, S., Basson, M., Galligan, L., & Turner, J. (2021). Does course-specific nudging enhance student engagement, experience, and

success?: A data-driven longitudinal tale. *Student Success*, *12*(2), 28-37. https://doi.org/10.5204/ssj.1914

- Lee, J., & Choi, H. (2019). Rethinking the flipped learning pre-class: Its influence on the success of flipped learning and related factors. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 50(2), 934-945. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12618
- Lee, J. S. (2014). The relationship between student engagement and academic performance: Is it a myth or reality? *The Journal of Educational Research (Washington, D.C.)*, 107(3), 177-185. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2013.807491
- Lehmann, I. J., & Mehrens, W. A. (1979). *Educational research: Readings in focus*. Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Lei, H., Cui, Y., & Zhou, W. (2018). Relationships between student engagement and academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 46(3), 517-528. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7054
- Lenell, W., & Boissoneau, R. (1996). Using causal-comparative and correlational designs in conducting market research. *Services Marketing Quarterly*, 13(2), 59-69. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332969.1996.9985218
- Lindholm-Leary, K., & Borsato, G. (2002). Impact of two-way immersion on students' attitudes toward school and college. *ERIC Digest*. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED464514
- Lovsin Kozina, F. (2021). Danielle dreilinger, the secret history of home economics. how trailblazing women harnessed the power of home and changed the way we live. *CEPS Journal*, *11*(4), 237-240. https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1350

- Mahesh, J., Bhat, A. K., & Suresh, R. (2021). Are Gen Z values the new disruptor for future educational institutions? *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, 21(12), 102-123. https://doi.org/10.33423/jhetp.v21i12.4704
- Maguire, R., Egan, A., Hyland, P., & Maguire, P. (2017). Engaging students emotionally: The role of emotional intelligence in predicting cognitive and affective engagement in higher education. *Higher Education Research and Development*, 36(2), 343-357. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2016.1185396
- Mahdi, M. A. (2021). Using blended project-based learning for students' behavioral intention to use and academic achievement in higher education. *Education Sciences*, 11(5), 207. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11050207
- Maros, M., Korenkova, M., Fila, M., Levicky, M., & Schoberova, M. (2021). Project-based learning and its effectiveness: Evidence from slovakia. *Interactive Learning Environments, ahead-of-print*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2021.1954036
- Martin, F., & Bolliger, D. U. (2018). Engagement matters: Student perceptions on the importance of engagement strategies in the online learning environment. *Online Learning*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v22i1.1092
- Maryam, B., & Mohamadi, Z. Z. (2021). Comparative study of the effect of face-to-face and computer mediated conversation modalities on student engagement: speaking skill in focus. *Asian-Pacific Journal of Second and Foreign Language Education*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40862-020-00103-0
- McDonald, J. K., Rich, P. J., & Gubler, N. B. (2019). The perceived value of informal, peer critique in the instructional design studio. *TechTrends*, 63(2), 149-159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-018-0302-9

- McGregor, S. L. T. (2020). Home ecology to home economics and beyond: Ellen Swallow
  Richards' disciplinary contributions. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences.*, *112*(2), 28–39. https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS112.2.28
- Merillat, L., & Scheibmeir, M. (2016). Developing a quality improvement process to optimize faculty success. *Online Learning 20*(3), 159-172. https://doi.org/ 10.24059/olj.v20i3.977
- Miliszewska, I. (2006). Engagement theory: A framework for supporting cultural differences in transnational education. *ResearchGate*. doi:10.1145/1124706.1121392
- Montevallo. (2020). Fast facts. https://www.montevallo.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Fast-Facts-12-30-2020.pdf
- Moores, E., Birdi, G. K., & Higson, H. E. (2019). Determinants of university students' attendance. *Educational Research (Windsor)*, 61(4), 371-387. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2019.1660587
- Morrison, G. R., Ross, S. M., Morrison, J. R., & Kalman, H. K. (2019). *Designing effective instruction*, 8th ed., John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Mosenson, A. B., & Fox, W. S. (2011). Teaching 21st century process skills to strengthen and enhance family and consumer sciences education. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 103(1), 63-69. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ948352
- Naibert, N., Vaughan, E. B., Brevick, K., & Barbera, J. (2022). Exploring student perceptions of behavioral, cognitive, and emotional engagement at the activity level in general chemistry. *Journal of Chemical Education.*, 99(3), 1358–1367. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.1c01051

Newell, C., & Bain, A. (2020). Academics' perceptions of collaboration in higher education course design. *Higher Education Research and Development*, 39(4), 748-763. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2019.1690431

- Nguyen, T. D., Cannata, M., & Miller, J. (2018). Understanding student behavioral engagement: Importance of student interaction with peers and teachers. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 111(2), 163-174. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2016.1220359
- Nkomo, L. M., Daniel, B. K., & Butson, R. J. (2021). Synthesis of student engagement with digital technologies: A systematic review of the literature. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 18(1), 34-34.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-021-00270-1

- North Carolina Agriculture and Technical State University Office Strategic Planning and Institutional Effectiveness (2022). Quick facts about the department of family and consumer sciences. https://www.ncat.edu/caes/departments/family-and-consumersciences/quick-facts-about-the-department-of-family-and-consumer-sciences.php
- Northey, G., Govind, R., Bucic, T., Chylinski, M., Dolan, R., & van Esch, P. (2018). The effect of 'here and now' learning on student engagement and academic achievement. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 49(2), 321-333. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12589
- Nur Hanis, A. H., Farhana, N., & Tasir, Z. (2022). Investigating student's cognitive engagement, motivation and cognitive retention in learning management system. *International Journal* of Emerging Technologies in Learning, 17(9), 184.

https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v17i09.29727

O'Dwyer, L. M., & Bernauer, J. A. (2014). *Quantitative research for the qualitative researcher.* Sage.
- Ozer, E. M. (2022). Albert Bandura (1925–2021). *American Psychologist.*, 77(3), 483–484. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000981
- Pace, R. C. (1998). Recollections and reflections. In J. C. Smart (Ed.), Higher education: Handbook of theory and research. Agathon Press.

Paraskeva, J. M. (2021). The emergence of Ralph Tyler. Palgrave Macmillan.

- Park, S., & Kim, N. H. (2022). University students' self-regulation, engagement and performance in flipped learning. *European Journal of Training and Development.*, 46(1/2), 22–40. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-08-2020-0129
- Parks, D. J. (2011). Lest we forget our past: A leader in curriculum development-ralph winfred tyler. *The Educational Forum*, 75(1), 80-86. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2010.528549
- Passey, D. (2019). Technology-enhanced learning: Rethinking the term, the concept and its theoretical background. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 50(3), 972-986. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12783
- Payne, P. D. (2016). Using engagement theory to establish musical collaborative opportunities within school–university partnerships. *Music Educators Journal*, 103(1), 27–33. https://www.jstor.org/stable/44677798
- Poirier, S., Remsen, M. A., & Sager, M. (2017). Teaching and learning in family and consumer sciences education: Thriving in challenging times. *International Journal of Home Economics*, 10(2), 17-29. https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.305759816382524
- Poirier, E., Staub-French, S., Pilon, A., Fallahi, A., Teshnizi, Z., Tannert, T., & Froese, T.
  (2022). Design process innovation on brock commons tallwood house. *Construction Innovation*, 22(1), 23-40. https://doi.org/10.1108/CI-11-2019-0116

- Preedy, V. R., & Watson, R. R. (2010). 5-point likert scale. *Handbook of Disease Burdens and Quality of Life Measures*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-78665-0\_6363
- Pucciarelli, D. L., Hall, S., & Harden, A. (2016). A national survey of the perceived value of american association of family and consumer science accreditation. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 44(4), 375-393. https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12170
- Pulay, A., & Tibbitts, S. (2022). Exploring how FCS educators teach interior design in Iaho,
  Utah, and Washington. *Journal of Family & Consumer Sciences*, 50(3), 231-243.
  https://doi-org. 10.1111/fcsr.12429
- Pulay, A., & Tripp, P. J. (2022). FCS teacher recruitment and retention as related to classroom environment and teacher productivity. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 114(1), 20-26. https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS114.1.20
- Peiser, G., Pratt, A., & Putwain, D. (2022). Student teachers' views about the university's research contribution to professional knowledge development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2022.103647
- Pokhrel, S., & Chhetri, R. (2021). A literature review on impact of COVID-19 pandemic on teaching and learning. *Higher Education for the Future*, 8(1), 133-141. https://doi.org/10.1177/2347631120983481
- Purdue University. (n.d.). *Family & consumer sciences education*. Human Development and Family Studies.

https://www.purdue.edu/hhs/hdfs/students/undergraduate/majors/FCSE.html

Radhamani, R., Kumar, D., Nizar, N., Achuthan, K., Nair, B., & Diwakar, S. (2021). What virtual laboratory usage tells us about laboratory skill education pre- and post-COVID-

19: Focus on usage, behavior, intention and adoption. *Education and Information Technologies*, 26(6), 7477-7495. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10583-3

- Rahman, S., Ramakrishnan, T., & Ngamassi, L. (2020). Impact of social media use on student satisfaction in higher education. *Higher Education Quarterly.*, 74(3), 304–319. https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12228
- Ramadan, M., Fallatah, A. M., Batwa, Y. F., Saifaddin, Z., Mirza, M. S., Aldabbagh, M., & Alhusseini, N. (2022). Trends in emergency department visits for mental health disorder diagnoses before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: A retrospective cohort study 2018-2021. *BMC Psychiatry*, 22(1), 378-378. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-022-03988-y
- Rhode, J., Richter, S., Gowen, P., Miller, T., & Wills, C. J. O. L. (2017). Understanding faculty use of the learning management system. *Online Learning*, 21(3), 68–86. doi: 10.24059/olj.v%vi%i.1217
- Richardson, B. (2002). Ellen swallow richards: "humanistic oekologist," "applied sociologist," and the founding of sociology. *The American Sociologist*, *33*(3), 21-57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12108-002-1010-6
- Rissanen. (2018). Student engagement in large classroom: The effect on grades, attendance and student experiences in an undergraduate biology course. *Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education, 18*(2), 136–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42330-018-0015-2
- Roehl, A., Reddy, S. L., & Shannon, G. J. (2013). The flipped classroom: An opportunity to engage millennial students through active learning strategies. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 105(2), 44-49. https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS105.2.12

- Rolling, P. C., & Johnson, D. C. (2002). Enhancing family and consumer sciences curriculum and enrollment: Integration and engagement. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 94(2), 75-76.
- Romaker, D. (2021). Benefits of flipped learning for developmental mathematics. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2021.1919241
- Romli, M. H., Cheema, M. S., Mehat, M. Z., Md Hashim, N. F., & Abdul Hamid, H. (2020).
  Exploring the effectiveness of technology-based learning on the educational outcomes of undergraduate healthcare students: An overview of systematic reviews protocol. *BMJ Open, 10*(11), e041153-e041153. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-041153
- Rue, P. (2018). Make way, millennials, here comes Gen Z. about campus: Enriching the student learning experience, 23(3), 5-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086482218804251
- Rugen, B. (2019). Strengthening project-based learning with genre checkpoints. *The English Teacher*, 48(3), 115-127.
- Rufaidah, L. N., Umamah, N., Sumardi, M., & Surya, R. A. (2021). Learning environment technology-based in improving students' independent learning. *Earth and Environmental Science*, 747(1), 12056. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/747/1/012056
- Sahni, J. (2019). Does blended learning enhance student engagement? Evidence from higher education. *Journal of E-learning and Higher Education*, 2019, 1-14. https://doi.org/ 10.5171/2019.121518
- Santos, J., Figueiredo, A. S., & Vieira, M. (2019). Innovative pedagogical practices in higher education: An integrative literature review. *Nurse Education Today*, 72, 12-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.10.003

- Sara, A. A., Sinval, J., Lia, L. N., Marôco, J., António, G., & Oliveira, P. (2022). Burnout and dropout intention in medical students: the protective role of academic engagement. *BMC Medical Education*, 22, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-03094-9
- Schunk, D. H., & DiBenedetto, M. K. (2020). Motivation and cognitive theory. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 60. 101832. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2019.101832

SCSU. (2018). South Carolina State University department of family and consumer sciences

Sexton, R., & Garner, B. (2020). Student perspectives of effective pedagogical strategies for teaching ethics. *Marketing Education Review*, 30(2), 132-137. https://doi.org/10.1080/10528008.2020.1756339

- Seibert, S. A. (2021). Problem-based learning: A strategy to foster generation Z's critical thinking and perseverance. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 16(1), 85-88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2020.09.002
- Servant-Miklos, V. (2020). Problem-oriented project work and problem-based learning: "mind the gap!". *The Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning*, 14(1), https://doi.org/10.14434/ijpbl.v14i1.28596
- SFASU. (2020). Accreditations. https://www.sfasu.edu/hms/about/accreditations admission, retention, attrition, and graduation.

https://www2.scsu.edu/files/Admission%20Retention%20Attrition%20Graduation.pdf

- Sharma, A., & Alvi, I. (2021). Evaluating pre and post COVID 19 learning: An empirical study of learners' perception in higher education. *Education and Information Technologies.*, 26(6), 7015–7032. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10521-3
- Shaughnessy, M. F., Fulgham, S. M., & Prensky, M. (2010). Interview with Marc Prensky. *Educational Technology*, *50*(2), 28–33. http://www.jstor.org/stable/44429775

- Shen, C., & Ho, J. (2020). Technology-enhanced learning in higher education: A bibliometric analysis with latent semantic approach. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 104, 106177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.106177
- Silvola, A., Naykki, P., Kaveri, A., & Muukkonen, H. (2021). Expectations for supporting student engagement with learning analytics: An academic path perspective. *Computers and Education*, 168, 104192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104192
- Siddiq, F., Gochyyev, P., & Wilson, M. (2017). Learning in digital networks ICT literacy: A novel assessment of students' 21st century skills. *Computers and Education*, 109, 11-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.01.014
- Smallwood, A. M. K., & Brunner, B. R. (2017). Engaged learning through online collaborative public relations projects across universities. *Journalism & Mass Communication Educator*, 72(4), 442-460. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077695816686440
- Smith, R. A. (2018). Connective segregation: Residential learning communities as networks of engagement. *Review of Higher Education*, 42(1), 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2018.0032
- Snijders, I., Wijnia, L., Kuiper, R. M., Rikers, R. M. J. P., & Loyens, S. M. M. (2022).
  Relationship quality in higher education and the interplay with student engagement and loyalty. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92(2), 425-446.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12455
- Song, L. Q., Han, J. L., Liu, D., Dai, Z. J., Zhang, S.Q., & Braun, T. (2020). Psychological effects of project-based learning in participants receiving clinical oncology teaching. *Medicine.*, 99(2). https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000018514

- Sriram, R., Haynes, C., Weintraub, S. C., Cheatle, J., & Marquart, C. P. (2020). Student demographics and experiences of deeper life interactions within residential learning communities. *Learning Communities: Research & Practice*, 8(1), 1-17. https://washingtoncenter.evergreen.edu/lcrpjournal/vol8/iss1/8
- Stratton, S. J. (2021). Population research: Convenience sampling strategies. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine.*, *36*(4), 373–374. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X21000649
- Stephenson, A. L., Heckert, D. A., & Yerger, D. B. (2020). Examining college student retention: a closer look at low self-control. *The International Journal of Educational Management*, 34(5), 953-964. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-07-2018-0208
- Sujet, S. P. (2022). Do institutions matter in student engagement? A comparison in engagement between two universities in different contexts. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 21(3), 333-351. https://doi.org/10.1177/15381927211052712
- Susanto, R., Rachmadtullah, R., & Rachbini, W. (2020). Technological and pedagogical models: Analysis of factors and measurement of learning outcomes in education. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural Studies*, 7(2), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.29333/ejecs/311
- Szymkowiak, A., Melovića, B., Dabić, M., Jeganathan, K., & Kundie, G. S. (2021). Information technology and Gen Z: The role of teachers, the internet, and technology in the education of young people. *Technology in Society*, 65, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101565
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2014). *Using multivariate statistics* (6th ed.). Harlow, England: Pearson.

- Talan. (2019). The effect of a flipped classroom on students' achievements, academic engagement and satisfaction levels. *The Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 31–60. https://doi.org/10.17718/tojde.640503
- Talmon, G. A. (2019). Generation Z: What's next? *Medical Science Educator*, 29(1), 9-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40670-019-00796-0
- Tanaka, M. (2019). Student engagement and quality assurance in higher education:International collaborations for the enhancement of learning. Routledge.
- Tani, M., Gheith, M. H., & Papaluca, O. (2021). Drivers of student engagement in higher education: a behavioral reasoning theory perspective. *Higher Education*, 82(3), 499–518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-020-00647-7
- Tight, M. (2020). Student retention and engagement in higher education. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 44(5), 689-704. https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2019.1576860
- Tyler, R. W. (2013). *Basic principles of curriculum and instruction*. The University of Chicago Press.
- Tyler, R. W. (1951). Evolving a functional curriculum. *The American Journal of Nursing*, *51*(12), 736. https://doi.org/10.2307/3468066
- Umer, R., Susnjak, T., Mathrani, A., & Suriadi, S. (2018). A learning analytics approach: Using online weekly student engagement data to make predictions on student performance.
   *International conference on computing, electronic and electrical engineering*.
   https://doi.org/10.1109/icecube.2018.86109 59
- Wang, F. H. (2017). An exploration of online behaviour engagement and achievement in flipped classroom supported by learning management system. *Computers and Education*, 114, 79-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.06.012

Wang, K., & Zhu, C. (2019). MOOC-based flipped learning in higher education: Students' participation, experience and learning performance. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 16(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-019-0163-0

Warner, R. (2013). Applied statistics. Sage.

- Weinfurt, K. P. (1995). Multivariate analysis of variance. In L. G. Grimm & P. R. Yarnold (Eds.), *Reading and understanding multivariate statistics* (pp. 245-276). American Psychological Association.
- Werhan, C. R. (2013). Family and consumer sciences secondary school programs: National survey shows continued demand for FCS teachers. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 105(4), 41-45. https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS105.4.10
- Werhan, C. R., & Whitbeck, D. A. (2017). Family and consumer sciences teacher shortage inaccuracies: Collaborating to set the record straight. Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences, 34(2), 24-28. http://www.natefacs.org/Pages/v34se2/v34se2Werhan.pdf
- White, J. H., & White, R. C. (2018). Ellen Swallow Richards: Building FCS on the Foundations of Chemistry. *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences*, 110(4), 42-48. https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS110.4.42
- Wilmarth, M. J., & Milstead, S. M. (2021). Family and consumer sciences graduate research productivity in 2020. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 50(2), 122-134. https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12420
- Williams-Wheeler, M., Burwell, J. M., Gravely, G. S., & Summers-Dawkins, R. (2022).
  Experiential learning in a family systems course: Integrating the FCSfit KIDS curriculum *Journal of Family & Consumer Sciences*, 114(1), 38-40.
  https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS114.1.38

- Winnie, P. H., & Nesbit, J. C. (2010). The psychology of academic achievement. *Annual Review* of *Psychology*, *61*(1), 653-678. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100348
- Umstead, L. K., Mayton, H., Wachter Morris, C. A., & Wester, K. L. (2018). *Making research relevant*. Routledge.
- van Braak, M., van de Pol, J., Poorthuis, A. M. G., & Mainhard, T. (2021). A micro-perspective on students' behavioral engagement in the context of teachers' instructional support during seatwork: Sources of variability and the role of teacher adaptive support. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 64, 101928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101928
- Xerri, M. J., Radford, K., & Shacklock, K. (2018). Student engagement in academic activities: A social support perspective. *Higher Education*, 75(4), 589-605. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0162-9
- Yang, D. (2017). Instructional strategies and course design for teaching statistics online:
  Perspectives from online students. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 4(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-017-0096-x
- Yastibas, A. E., Baturay, M. H., & Ertas, A. (2021). Gen Zers in higher education: A generational study on generation Z english language learners. I-*Manager's Journal on School Educational Technology*, 17(2), 7-15. https://doi.org/10.26634/jsch.17.2.18436
- You, W. (2022). Research on the relationship between learning engagement and learning completion of online learning students. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (Online)*, 17(1), 102-117. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v17i01.28545
- Zarzycka, E., Krasodomska, J., Mazurczak-Mąka, A., & Turek-Radwan, M. (2021). Distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic: students' communication and collaboration and

the role of social media. *Cogent Arts & Humanities*, 8(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311983.2021.1953228

Zhao, Y., & Watterston, J. (2021). The changes we need: Education post COVID-19. *Journal of Educational Change*, 22(1), 3-12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-021-09417-3

Zhang, R. (2020). Exploring blended learning experiences through the community of inquiry framework. *Language Learning & Technology*, 24(1), 38–53. https://doi.org/10125/44707

- Zheng, F., Khan, N. A., & Hussain, S. (2020). The COVID 19 pandemic and digital higher education: Exploring the impact of proactive personality on social capital through internet self-efficacy and online interaction quality. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 119, 105694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105694
- Zhoc, K. C. H., Webster, B. J., King, R. B., Li, J. C. H., & Chung, T. S. H. (2019). Higher education student engagement scale (HESES): *Development and psychometric evidence*. *Research in Higher Education*, 60(2), 219-244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-018-9510-6
- Zotou, M., Tambouris, E., & Tarabanis, K. (2020). Data-driven problem-based learning: Enhancing problem-based learning with learning analytics. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 68(6), 3393-3424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09828-8

#### **APPENDIX A: Initial Permission Requests**

#### Dear

I am conducting research as part of my requirement to complete my Doctorate in Philosophy in Higher Education Administration: Educational Leadership. The title of my research is "The Cause-Effect Relationship Between Student Engagement and Numerical Scores in Residential Higher Education FACS Courses." The purpose of this quantitative study is to explore the causal-comparative relationship between student engagement and numerical grades between residential Family and Consumer Sciences courses.

I am requesting your permission to conduct research within the **second second second** by surveying students within the Family and Consumer Sciences department. With your permission, I will survey two groups of classes within the interior design and family and child department majors. I am also requesting the final numerical grade scores for these selected courses.

Participants will be asked to complete the survey attached during a class period. The data will be used to examine the cause-effect relationship between students' perception of engagement in these courses with their final numerical grade scores. Participating in this survey is voluntary. Participants will be presented with informed consent prior to completing the survey.

Thank you for your consideration! If you permit my request of research, please write a signed statement of your approval.

Chelsea J. Milks

Dear Dr. Haug,

I am conducting research as part of my requirement to complete my Doctorate in Philosophy in Higher Education Administration: Educational Leadership. The title of my research is "The Cause-Effect Relationship Between Student Engagement and Numerical Scores in Residential Higher Education FACS Courses." The purpose of this quantitative study is to explore the causal-comparative relationship between student engagement and numerical grades between residential Family and Consumer Sciences courses.

I am requesting your permission to use your instrument, Perceptions of Student Engagement. With your permission, I will use your instrument to survey groups of FACS students. I would like to request permission to include a copy of the survey in the appendix of my dissertation. The data will be used to examine the cause-effect relationship between students' perception of engagement in these courses with their final numerical grade scores.

Thank you for your consideration! If you permit my request of research, please write a signed statement of your approval.

Chelsea J. Milks

.

### **APPENDIX B: Approval Letters**

#### Dear Mrs. Milks,

After careful review of your research proposal entitled "The Cause-Effect Relationship Between Student Engagement and Numerical Scores in Residential Higher Education FACS Courses", I have decided to grant you permission to conduct research in the Family and Consumer Sciences department by surveying students in interior design and family and child development courses. I also grant permission to receive participants' final numerical grade scores.

Check the following boxes, as applicable:

 $\underline{X}$  I grant permission for Chelsea Milks to survey students in interior design and family and child development courses.

 $\underline{X}$  I grant permission for Chelsea Milks to receive the participants' final numerical grade scores.

\_ I am requesting a copy of the results upon study completion and/or publication.

Sincerely,

# requesting a cop

#### 122

Chelsea Jade Milks, Ed.S. Assistant Professor

#### Letter of Consent

Dear Ms. Milks:

As the Primary Author of the following peer-reviewed journal article, I hereby grant consent for the use of the survey instrument imbedded in the article as part of your dissertation research project:

÷

Haug, J. C., Wright, L. B., Huckabee, W. A. (2018). Undergraduate business students' perceptions about engagement. *Journal of Education for Business*, 93(8), 11. https://doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2018.1504738

Wishing you the best in your research interests and academic progress.

#### Sincerely,



Associate Professor

#### **APPENDIX C: IRB Approval**

# LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

December 12, 2022

Chelsea Milks Kevin Struble

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY22-23-467 The Cause-Effect Relationship Between Student Engagement and Numerical Scores in Residential Higher Education FACS Courses

Dear Chelsea Milks, Kevin Struble,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(i). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording).

The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects cannot readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects.

Your stamped consent form(s) and final versions of your study documents can be found under the Attachments tab within the Submission Details section of your study on Cayuse IRB. Your stamped consent form(s) should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document(s) should be made available without alteration.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us

at <u>irb@liberty.edu</u>.

Sincerely,

Administrative Chair of Institutional Research Research Ethics Office ? Reply ? Forward

### **APPENDIX D: Consent**

**Title of the Project:** The Cause-Effect Relationship Between Student Engagement and Numerical Scores in Residential Higher Education FACS Courses **Principal Investigator:** Chelsea Milks, Assistant Professor, Doctoral Candidate, School of Education, Liberty University

#### Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must be a current student in the selected Family and Consumer Sciences Interior Design or Family and Child Development course. You are not required to be a FACS major. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

#### What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of the study is to learn about your perception of student engagement in this course, then examine the relationship between your perception of engagement and your final numerical grade score in the class.

#### What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following:

- 1. Agree to the release of your final grades for study purposes. The grades will be stripped of identifiers when given to the researcher. The time estimate to release your final grade for study purposes is 1-5 minutes.
- 2. Complete a 28-question survey about your perception of student engagement in the course during this class period. The time estimate to complete the survey is 15 minutes.

#### How could you or others benefit from this study?

The study may increase student engagement in face-to-face Interior Design and Family and Child Development courses, resulting in higher course grades, increased FACS retention rates, and improved instructional pedagogy among instructors in the field of FACS higher education.

#### What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The expected risks from participating in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

#### How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher and department chair will have access to the data.

- Participant information will be anonymous to the researcher. The chair of the FACS department will review survey answers and match them to final grade scores in the class, then remove the identifiers.
- The chair will link participant survey results to final grade scores but will not disclose participant identities or how named or identifiable individuals responded. All information will remain confidential to the department chair.
- Hardcopy records will be stored in a locked drawer. Electronic data will be stored on a password-locked computer in a locked drawer. After five years, all electronic records will be deleted, and all hardcopy records will be shredded.

#### How will you be compensated for being part of the study?

Participants will be compensated for participating in this study.

- Students will receive two points extra credit for participating in the survey.
- At the conclusion of the survey, participants will be entered into a drawing to win 1 of 50 Amazon, Target, and Starbucks gift cards ranging from \$5-\$25. A survey software will randomly select winners.
- All participants will receive a snack upon completing the survey.
- Email addresses will be requested on a separate form from the survey for compensation purposes. The researcher will only have access to the email addresses. The emails will be separated from your responses to maintain your anonymity.
- Winners will be contacted via email by the researcher.
- There will be an alternative procedure of equal time and effort for students who may not wish to partake in the study, but still want to participate in receiving extra credit points, being entered into the raffle, and receiving a snack. Students will have the opportunity to read an article about student engagement and answer four reflection questions.

#### Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time prior to submitting the survey without affecting those relationships.

#### What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please inform the researcher that you wish to discontinue your participation and do not submit your study materials. Your responses will not be recorded or included in this study.

#### Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

The researcher conducting this study is Chelsea Milks. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, **you are encouraged** to contact her by phone at

. You may also contact the researcher's faculty sponsor, Kevin

Struble, at

Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, **you are encouraged** to contact the IRB. Our physical address is Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA, 24515; our phone number is 434-592-5530, and our email address is <u>irb@liberty.edu</u>.

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.

#### **Your Consent**

Before agreeing to be part of the research, please be sure that you understand what the study is about. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. If you have any questions about the study later, you can contact the researcher using the information provided above.

I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.

Printed Subject Name

Signature and Date

## **APPENDIX E: Verbal Recruitment Letter**

Hello Interior Design/Family and Child Development Students,

As a doctoral candidate in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral philosophy degree. The purpose of my research is to examine the cause-and-effect relationship between student engagement and student achievement. If you meet my participant criteria and are interested, I would like to invite you to join my study.

Participants must be a student in a selected Interior Design or Family and Child Development course. Participants, if willing, will be asked to complete an in-person survey about their perception of student engagement in the class. Participants will also be asked to consent to the release of their final numerical grade score in the class. It should take approximately 15 minutes to complete the survey. Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will be stripped of identifiers and will remain anonymous to the researcher.

Would you like to participate?

[Yes] Great, would you mind completing this survey and placing it in the provided envelope?

[No], I understand. Thank you for your time.

A consent document is provided as the first page of the survey. The consent document contains additional information about my research. If you choose to participate, you will need to sign the consent document and return it to me in the envelope provided. Participants who choose to participate will be entered to win one of 50 \$5-\$25 gift cards, will receive two points extra credit in the class, and will receive a snack. Participants who do not wish to participate in the study but still wish to be entered into the raffle, earn two extra credit points, and receive a snack will be given the opportunity to read an article about student engagement and answer four reflection questions. There will be a total of 50 gift card winners.

Thank you for your time. Do you have any questions?

## **APPENDIX F: Instrument**

LONGWOOD JIM HAUG	Rate each item based on your level of	Strongly	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Strongly
	agreement with the statement.	agree	agree		uisagi ee	uisagi ee
		(5)	(4)	(3)	(2)	(1)
1	Engagement is an important factor in my overall satisfaction with classroom work.					
2	Working in small groups during class time enhances engagement.					
3	If no points are assigned to a task, it becomes less of a priority					
4	Projects that involve writing from personal experience enhances engagement.					
5	The instructor's use of PPT slides in class helps visual learners.					
6	Thinking about other tasks on my "to do" list distracts me from being engaged in class.					
7	The instructor and student share equally in being responsible for engaged class time.					
8	Discussing real world cases and current examples keeps me focused in class.					
9	Other students' behavior in class sometimes distract me from being focused.					
10	Speaking in front of class in an activity that increases my anxiety level.					
11	Lectures by the instructor helps learners that thrive on oral presentation of content.					
12	The use of open ended questions by the instructor to the class helps keep me focused.					
13	Interviewing a local business owner or manager would be a useful experience.					
14	Roll playing and mock negotiations helps to keep me engaged in the classroom.					
15	Opportunity to get involved with organizations/clubs that are within the school.					
16	Field trips are a valuable activity that should be offered more often.					
17	Technical troubles with classroom equipment can be an obstacle to learning.					
18	The tone and demeanor of the instructor can affect my level of engagement.					
19	Lack of sleep often keeps me from staying focused in class.					
20	Long lectures that take up most of class time can lead to me to "zone out."					
21	Foreign accents of instructors tends to reduce my level of engagement.					
22	The time of day of a scheduled class affects my ability to remain focused.					
23	Activities outside the classroom are beneficial in keeping me engaged.					
24	Working in a small team helps me deal with complex material and assignments.					
25	Ambiguous instructions tends to cause me to procrastinate on assignment completion.					
26	The environment in the classroom including lighting level and temperature affects focus.					
27	Allowing a student to teach a topic in class helps enhance engagement.					

28	One of the benefits of an engaging class experience is better			
	exam performance.			